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The Court : Do those numbers on the page to 
which you have directed my attention, which num­
bers are generally in little rectangular spaces, al­
though the spaces sometimes are different-are they 
numbers which indicate separate health areas~ 

11r. Gladstein: Yes, your Honor. There are 
about 95 of them in the Borough of Manhattan. 

The Witness: 94. 
(2348) :Mr. Gladstein: 94? 
The Witness : Yes. 
:Nir. Gladstein: They only go up to No. 80 or 

80-something, but you will notice that a number of 
them seem to have decimal points after them; you 
might have 1, 1.2, or son1ething of that sort. Does 
your Honor observe that in the table~ 

The Court : No, I don't. 
Mr. Gladstein: You may be looking at census 

tracts, your Honor. 
The Court : What is that~ 
JVI:r. Gladstein: You may be looking at another 

thing called a census tract. 
The Court : Well, you see the page which you 

showed me is the one I am looking at. 
Mr. Gladstein: Does it say health area or census 

tract at the top of the column~ 
The Court: Well, it says census tract number, 

and that points to a very small number, and then 
in the middle of the rectangular space there is a 
large number, and outside of the rectangle is the 
word "Number" with an arrow. I thought you told 
me that each of those little rectangular spaces with 
the large numbers in the middle were health areas. 

Mr. Gladstein: May I see it~ 
(2349) The Court: Yes, certainly. Perhaps 

you have given me the wrong one, or perhaps I 
should look at the page number right. lVIaybe that 
is where the trouble is. 

lVIr. Gladstein: Were you looking at the page 
on the left~ 

The Court: Yes. 
1Ir. Gladstein: That is the reason. You see, 

on the page on the right, your Honor, you will see 
a list-and this is what I was referring to-
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The Court : Well, I was looking at the wrong 
page, then. 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes, it says health areas right 
in front of you. 

The Court: Yes. It is like that thing this morn­
ing, it turned out to be just a little stupidity on 
my part that I did not catch on to that column 
quicker than I did, but that is not my fault; I can't 
help doing that once in a while. Now let me look. 
(Examining.) 

Now, Mr. Reporter, will you read me Mr. 
McGohey's objection~ 

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, maybe it 
would help to make that objection a little clearer 
now in view of the argument that was made in oppo­
sition to the objection. 

(2350) When this line of testimony now about 
these health areas was introduced by the question­
ing of the witness, it seemed to me that we were 
going into ,a new field the relevance of which was 
not clear to me. Now that I hear the explanation 
of the relevance, it appears to me that it is about 
health areas, and that it is data with respect to 
health areas that has some effect on the two exhibits 
which are already in evidence, namely, this New 
York City Market Analysis, Defendants' Challenge 
Exhibit 20, and then the-I think that is 87. 

The Court : 87. 
Mr. McGohey: 87, yes. 
Now, if we have the data which has already been 

testified to by the witness from the New York Times 
with respect to Challenge Exhibit 20, and by the 
witness from the Edison Company with respect to 
Challenge 87, that the health areas in the census 
data was used as a basis for the data in both of 
those exhibits, namely, 20 and 87 -now, if we have 
that in one form, it seems to me that it is unneces­
sary and cumulative for us to go in and put it into 
the record in another form from .some other docu­
ment. 
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1\fr. Gladstein: I wasn't going to do that. I 
was going to tie up-I am sorry I made myself 
unclear- (2351) tie up the health areas as the 
exhibits in evidence already demonstrate with evi­
dence concerning the jurors, and, of course, the 
Consolidated Edison and the New York Times Com­
pany did not do that. 

So if I may, I would like to ask the witness if 
something was done with the health areas as a 
background, and I think we could move along quickly, 
your Honor. 

The Court : Well, let me get the question to which 
the objection was made so I can follow this. No 
document is being offered now~ 

Mr. Gladstein: No. 
The Court : This was a question 1 
Mr. Gladstein: Let me withdraw that question 

so that I can proceed. Would that be satisfactory? 
The Court : Very well. And before you proceed 

let me indicate to you what is troubling me a little 
bit: as I look at this definition, which Mr. Wilkerson 
read from page 1, it goes on about altogether a half 
a column or so, and taking it all in all, and particu­
larly the part that he read-because I don't think 
he pretended to read part and leave out part; I think 
he intended to rea;d the part that he thought was 
most apposite to what we were considering---.but 
taking all that, it seems to me that the type of ma­
terial that has gone into that is of (2352) such a 
character as to render it almost obviously of no 
moment in connection with jury selection. 

You see, they in effect say here that '''We have 
just done the best we could for certain purposes 
here. It has been to some extent arbitrary because 
we think that for the purpose we got it up it will 
suffice in this form." And I wonder if taking that 
very definition it isn't reasonably clear that it would 
be of little value to us in this question of jury se­
lection. That is what is troubling me more than 
the point that has been raised about mere repetition, 
although mere repetition would in and of itself be 
enough for me to exclude it if I felt it was going 
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to lead to a lot of additional charts which were 
merely a duplication of something we already had. 

Mr. Gladstein: No, I have nothing that is a du­
plication. I have, as a matter of fact, one map 
rather than a lot of charts on the question of health 
areas, and I want to say that the question of health 
areas, of course, is one that, as you find, the United 
States Census relies on; so do people like Consoli­
dated Edison; so does the New York Times, and, 
indeed, as Mr. Wilkerson has indicated, it is gener­
ally in use and it is supported, as your Honor will 
see, by statistical data. 

(2353) The Court: Well, they say here­
Mr. Sacher: May I interrupt~ 
The Court: -that the subdivision into health 

areas has been more or less arbitrary, and that each 
health area consists of one or more adjacent census 
tracts, and I am a little afraid it is just going to 
confuse the whole matter here. 

Mr. Sacher: I think I can help your Honor by 
indicating what these health area data provided. 
The area itself, the physical dimensions of the area 
are, as it is stated, arbitrary in character. You 
will find that many of them run about 12 blocks 
north and south and about six blocks east and west. 
Now, that is the whole of the arbitrariness of the 
selection. However, what this data reveals is the 
following: For each area there is revealed the ra­
cial composition of the area; there is revealed the 
occupational distribution of the population in that 
area to show how many are in the so-called execu­
tive grouping-that is, proprietors, managers and 
officials, et cetera. It shows you what the average 
rental in the area is. 

Now, what we propose to .submit to your Honor 
today is a sampling of a number of these health 
areas with particular reference to those sections of 
the city in Manhattan and Bronx from which jurors 
were both (2354) selected and not selected, so as 
to show your Honor the composition, the occupa­
tional composition of the community, the racial com­
position, the average rent, et cetera. 
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Now, in that respect it is precise-
The Court: Now, how are the officials who get 

up the jury lists and the jury panels to put in so 
many Italians and so many Germans, and so many 
Swedes-

Mr. Sacher: That is not the point. 
The Court : -and so many of all the population 

that go to make up America~ 
Mr. Sacher: They solved that problem very 

simply-
The Court: It seems to me on its face it is the 

very sort of thing that ought not to be done. 
Mr. Sacher : May I tell your Honor how they 

do it~ They just look at some of these maps-if 
you will look at the Con. Edison map, for instance, 
you will find that each of these health areas is 
colored on the basis of the average rent in the block; 
and what we are saying here is when this material 
comes in we will show you that the selection is so 
made that it is the rich, the high rent paying -people 
who are selected, and the others are excluded. 

We will show you that there are whole blighted 
areas in which rents are low from which not a single 
( 2355) juror is called; and, on the other hand, we 
will also demonstrate that even within those dis­
tricts like the 17th you will find that where the 
selection is great and concentrated it comes from 
those areas of the 17th in which the rents are highl 
and in which the occupational group known as exec­
utives is concentrated. 

Now, we are asking to have this health area ma­
terial placed before your Honor in relation to the 
specific selection of jurors for the purpose of con­
cretely demonstrating that the jurors come from 
the high rent paying areas ; from the areas in which 
executives are concentrated; where rents are high; 
where incomes are high, and where manual workers 
do not appear, or, where they do, they get no repre­
sentation in those areas. 

The Court: Well, I will think it over over-night. 
We will now adjourn until tomorrow morning at 
10.30. 

(Adjourned to February 3, 1949, at 10.30 a. m.)' 
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(2356) New York, February 3, 1949; 
10.30 o'clock a. m. 

Mr. McGohey: If the Court please, may the rec­
ord show that I have delivered to counsel for the 
defense photographs of the various maps which I 
asked leave to photograph the other day and which 
I was granted. And I have a copy here of the­
this is this map of Westchester. 

The Court: Yes, that is 91. 
Mr. McGohey: "Exhibit 91," yes, your Honor. 

I couldn't see it. 
The Court: Now I remember some little dis­

cussion that we had at the close of the session yes­
terday over these health areas and I think it is best 
for all of us if we just take a fre.sh start on it. I 
am not clear that there was any objection before me 
and it may not turn out to be a matter of any con­
sequence at all, so I suggest, without further dis­
cussion on it, that we go right ahead with the proof. 

Mr. Gladstein: Very well. 

* 
(2358) Mr. McCabe: I think the record should 

show that Mr. Isserman is detained and away from 
court on ( 2359') rna tters pertaining to this case, 
and his clients and other defendants waive any 
right, if that is agreeable to the Court. 

The Court: And that is agreeable to Mr. Mc­
Gohey~ 

Mr. McGohey: Indeed it is, your Honor. 
The Court: And it certainly is agreeable to me. 

And I may say, during the day of court if one of 
the lawyers for the defense desires to absent him­
self for a few minutes it is not necessary to get any 
leave from me-you may do that of course without 
saying about it. 

This is a little different, I take it; he is going 
to be away all day in all likelihood, but whether he 
is or not it is all right. 

• * • 
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( 2360) DoxEY A. WILKERSON, resumed the stand. 

The Court : You may proceed. 
Mr. Gladstein: Now, before taking up the sub­

ject of health areas your Honor, I would like to take 
up for a moment something that deals with the 
Westchester map which was received in evidence 
and which deals with the panels that have been 
analyzed with respect to the locations of the West­
chester jurors. 

Direct examination continued by Mr. Gladstein: 

Q: Now Mr. Wilkerson, has an effort been made to as­
certain the locations within Scarsdale, Bronxville, Larch­
mont and Yonkers of the jurors whose names appear on 
the panels for this court that have been selected for and 
used for analysis during the period 1940 to date for panels 
other than those covered in the map which has been re­
ceived in evidence as Challenge Exhibit 91? A. Yes, we 
have .such information. 

Mr. Gladstein: Will you mark this for identifi­
cation, please. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 92 for 
identification.) 

Mr. Gladstein: Do you have an extra copy for 
the Judge? 

The Witness : Yes (handing). 

Q. Now I show you Challenge Exhibit 92 for identifi­
cation, (2361) and ask you to state what this document 
is? A. This is a table, or labeled Table W -2, which lists 
for four communities in Westchester County and for the 
county as a whole the number of jurors chosen on panels 
from January 17, 1940, including all of those used in the 
basic analyses of this inquiry, through February 14, 1949. 
I think there should be here a total of about 30 panels. 

The Court. 31. 
The Witness : 31, is it¥ 
The Court: Yes. 
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The Witness: And it indicates for Scarsdale, for 
B:ronxville, for Larchmont, for Yonkers-you re­
member from yesterday that the first three are small 
residential communities, Yonkers is a large, more 
or less metropolitan city. It indicates for each panel 
and for each of these communities the number of 
jurors chosen on federal petit jury panels for the 
Southern District. It shows, for example, that the 
small community of Scarsdale had on these 31 panels 
19'.6 per cent of all the jurors. 

Mr. Gladstein: Do you have an extra copy for 
the United States Attorney~ 

The Witness: Ye.s (handing). 
(Continuing) That the still smaller community 

of Bronxville had on all of these panels 12.4 per 
cent (2362) of the jurors; that the small village 
of Larchmont had 9.6 per cent of the jurors, but that 
the much larger city of Yonkers with many times 
the population of all three of these other communi­
ties together, as indicated in yesterday's testimony, 
had only 7.1 per cent of the jurors represented on 
these 31 panels. 

Q. Now, according to Challenge Exhibit 89 in evidence, 
the population of Yonkers, which was nearly 100,000 com­
pares to a total population of Scarsdale, Bronxville, and 
Larchmont of about 17 ,000-in other words, a ratio of 
about 6 to 1, six times as many people in Yonkers as there 
were altogether in the other three communities. Now, 
what is the total percentage of jurors on these panels 
from Scarsdale, Bronxville and Larchmont put together as 
contrasted with Yonkers~ A. If you will hold it just a 
moment I will calculate that. 29' per cent-29.1 per cent. 
Did I understand your question correctly~ 

Q. I don't think you did. I want you to give me the 
percentage among Westchester jurors of those who come 
from Yonkers on the one hand and those who come from 
the combined population of Scarsdale, Bronxville and 
Larchmont on the other. A. From Scarsdale, Bronxville 
and Larchmont there come among the 1316 jurors here 
listed for Westchester (2363) as a whole, 29 per cent of 
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the total whereas from the larger ·community of Y onker.s 
with five or six times the population of these three com­
munities combined, there come only 7.1 per cent of the 
total. 

Q. In reaching the figure 29, what did you do¥ Did you 
add the percentage figures at the bottom of the three col­
umns of this table~ A. Yes, the 29 means that 29.1 per 
cent of all of the Westchester jurors were in Scarsdale, 
Bronxville and Larchmont-

Q. How did you arrive at 29 ¥ 

The Court: Which exhibit do you have before 
you, Mr. Gladstein¥ 

Mr. Gladstein: The one that I have just shown 
the witness, which is Challenge Exhibit 92 for iden­
tification-and I gave a copy to you, your Honor; it 
is called Table W-2-

The Court : What is the other one~ 
Mr. Gladstein: The other one is No. 89, and that 

is the one that gave the population figures. It was 
received in evidence yesterday. 

The Court : Then I am right along with you. 
The Witness: I get your question, Mr. Glad­

stein, I am sorry. 

Q. Now may I have the answer~ A. Yes, just a moment, 
let me check it. 

(2364) Now, out of all Westchester jurors on these 31 
panels, 41.6 per cent lived in the .small residential com­
munities of Scarsdale, Bronxville and Larchmont; where­
as only . 7 per cent of the Westchester jurors live in the 
much larger community, five or six times as large, com­
munity of Yonkers. 

Q. So that, in other words, while Yonkers has six times 
the population of Scarsdale, Bronxville and Larchmont 
combined, when it comes to the composition of jurors, the 
location of the jurors on these lists, it is exactly reversed, 
is that right? A. It has about one-sixth. 

Q. In other words, sL~ times as many jurors from 
Scarsdale, Bronxville and Larchmont as you do get from 
Yonkers, is that right~ A. That is right. 
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Q. By the way, are these the figures and tabulations 
which were taken from the original jury lists or the copies 
which were purchased from the clerk '.s office~ Is that 
right~ A. Yes. 

Q. The same basic ones that you have referred to in 
your testimony~ A. Yes. 

Mr. Gladstein: I offer it. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 92 for identifica­
tion received in evidence.) 

(2365) By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now, do you have a copy of Challenge Exhibit 89 
in evidence with you~ That is Table P-4, which gives facts 
and figures concerning six of the petit jury panels. A. 
Yes. 

Q. Now, state, if you will, what an examination of sim­
ply six panels, those .six that are indicated in that exhibit, 
:shows as to the relationship between the number of jurors' 
obtained from Y onker.s on the one hand and the number 
obtained from the other three communities of Scarsdale, 
Bronxville and Larchmont on the other hand~ 

The Court: I think he did that the other day, 
and it appears right from the face of the exhibit 
anyway, doesn't it~ 

Mr. Gladstein: All right. I think we can see by 
a glance-

The Witness: You want to relate these two Y 
Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 
The Court: I think it is very clear. 
Mr. Gladstein: It is simply this, and I call your 

Honor's attention to it, that the study made for all 
the panels is .shown to be very closely and substan­
tially the same as that shown by a ..study o£ six par­
ticular panels, because we find that more than five 
times as many jurors come from Scarsdale, Larch­
mont and Bronxville than (2.3,66) come from 
Yonkers in a study of six specified panels. 

The Court: That is a matter of argument. The 
figures are all there. 
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By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now, I think you testified yesterday as to the mean­
ing of the term "health area." Now, that, of course, has 
no relationship to the question of health as such, that is 
right, isn't it, Mr. Wilkerson~ A. For our purposes, yes. 

Q. In other words, the health area itself, as such is 
not an area that refers to a question of the condition of 
health of the inhabitants but simply is a term defining a 
·certain neighborhood, is that right~ A. That is correct. 

Q. All right. Now we have in evidence a certain ex­
hibit called the New York City Market Analysis. This is 
Challenge Exhibit 20. Will you look through it-

Mr. Gladstein: I will withdraw that question. 

Q. Did you make a study of any of the jury panels to 
ascertain in which health areas they were located? A. 
Yes. We made a .sample study for certain health areas in 
Manhattan. 

Q. And which were the health areas which you sub­
jected to study~ A. We sought to get health areas which 
were typical on the basis of data available in the census 
(2367) report. 

Q. What census report data would indicate whether an 
area is typical, whether a health area is typical of a group 
of them~ A. Information concerning rents, concerning 
the racial composition of the population, concerning the 
occupational distribution of the people in the population. 

Q. Could you illustrate that by reference to the census 
tables? A. It would be a little difficult, for this reason­
well, yes, I could do that. The materials are on many 
pages throughout a given volume. You want the census 
volume on health areas? It would be much easier to do 
it from the Con. Edison survey which summarizes those 
materials on one page. 

The Court: And the whole affair appears in the· 
most elaborate manner in these exhibits, does it not, 
the matter of these health areas and the elements 
that go into it? 

The Witness: The information that I have to 
supply is not in those exhibits at all. 
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Mr. Gladstein: No, I was asking the witness­
The Court: Something you went out and in­

quired around going from house to house~ 
The Witness: No, analysis based on such in­

formation. 
(2368) Mr. Gladst~in: The w~tness means, your 

Honor, that the analy,s1s that he IS about to testify 
concerning data with respect to jurors, that, of 
course, are not contained in the exhibits, but that 
the use of the health areas is related to the actual 
health areas and their descriptions as contained in 
the exhibit. 

The Court : Yes. All I am trying to do is to 
get him right down to the point. You have got your 
table; have him identify it, state it is accurate, put 
it in evidence and get along. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, may I see that for a sec­
ond, your Honor~ 

The Court : Certainly. 

B:y Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. For example, Mr. Wilkerson, I will call your atten­
tion to page 21 of Exhibit 87 in evidence, which sets forth 
in pictorial tabular form certain data concerning health 
areas in Manhattan; is that right~ A. That is right. 

Q. Now, taking just one of the questions, one of the 
factors that go into determining whether or not a particu­
lar health area is typical of a group of them of like char­
acter, eould you indicate, for example, son1e four or five, 
if there are .such, located, let us say, in Harlem which 
indicate racial characteristics of the population who 
(2369) live in a number of adjacent health areas? A. 
Yes. Well, for example-well, you can't look but we will 
call your attention to the fact-

The Court : You mean take a theoretic look. 

A. (Continuing) -that health area No. 8, which is in 
Harlem, has a non-white population that we know from 
other collateral information to be almost completely Negro. 
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Mr. McGohey: J\:fay I ask at that point, your 
Honor, what the other collateral information is the 
witness is referring to~ 

The Witness: The ·Census gives us such informa­
tion. It mentions the breakdown of what non-white 
means, but on health areas they are reported here 
merely as non-white. 

Mr. McGohey: In other words, the collateral in-
formation is the census information? 

The Witness: That is right. 
Mr. McGohey: Thank you. 
The Witness: You are welcome. 

A. (Continuing) In that particular health area, health area 
8, 99.8 per cent of the population is Negro. 

Q. What is the figure~ A. 99.8 per cent, in 1940, was 
Negro. 

Q. Or non-white~ A. Or non-white. That is correct. 
Thank you. 

(2370) To cite a contrast-
Q. Well, before you give me a contrast, indicate, if yon 

will, three or four, if there are such other health areas in 
the immediate locality of the one that you have just re­
ferred to that is No. 8, which are of similar composition. 
A. Health area 15 is 94.1 Negro; health area 13, and this 
health area-

The Court: That is non-white, or is it Negro¥ 
Mr. Gladstein: Non-white. 
The Witness : Your correction is well taken. It 

is non-white. 
The Court: Homebody said something here the 

other day about a large number of Porto Ricans. 
The Witness: Yes, that is right. 
The Court: They may or may not even speak 

English, and there are a variety of things that come 
up. But anyway the point is it is non-white. 

A. (Continuing) And it should be said that it is further 
true that there are Negroes in these particular health 
areas. There are certain other health areas where the 
non-white would mean largely Porto Ricans. But in this 
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health area non-white is overwhelmingly and almost ex­
clusively Negro. 

Q. Would you just indicate which numbers you are 
( 2371) talking about as the health areas~ A. I am refer­
ring now to health area 13, which is another one with a 
very large non-

Q. What is the percentage of non-white~ A. 98.5 per 
cent of the population is non-white and in this case we 
know from collateral information Negro. There are sev­
eral other-

Mr. McGohey: May I ask: Mr. Wilkerson, n1ay 
I take it to be the fact that when you refer to col­
lateral information at any time in connection with 
this testimony you are now giving me, you mean the 
census figures and not something other than the 
census figures~ 

The Witness: Well, I mean primarily census 
figures, yes; I could also refer to collateral infor­
mation based upon my own experience. However, 
I had in mind census material. 

Mr. McGohey: But when you are talking about 
census material is it a fact that you are talking 
about 19·40 census material~ 

The Witness: That is correct. 
Mr. McGohey: Thank you. 
The Witness: You are welcome. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now I want to ask you this question. I notice that 
(2372) the health areas you have talked about so far in 
giving this illustration concerning non-white character of 
the population in -certain health areas, I notice that you 
went from No. 8 to 13 and then there was another number 
that was given. Is there any significance to that enumera­
tion~ Do they appear, for example, that way on the map? 
A. Yes. The health area No. 8, for example, though street 
indexes are not on the map I am referring to here, we~ 
note runs up to the upper part of Harlem, to about 155th 
Street. Well, immediately below that is health area 10, 
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directly south of it. Health area 8 is 99.8 per cent Negro ; 
health area 10 immediately south is 99.6 per cent negro. 

Q. You mean non-white f A. I mean non-white. All 
right, thank you. And health area 12 is immediately south 
of 10, which is 99.6 per cent non-white. And 13 is im­
mediately to the east of 10 and 12, and it is 98.5 per cent. 

Q. Now you started to say that you had taken certain 
health areas which were typical of a number of health 
areas in a particular district, is that correct' A. In sev­
eral districts. 

Q. When you say "district'' what do you refer to f A. 
I am thinking of Congressional Districts in (2373) 
Manhattan. 

Q. Which ones did you take f A. We chose from the 
17th Congressional District two health areas. 

Q. What were they~ A. Health areas 41 and 50, and 
I can give you their exact boundaries if you should like 
for me to do so. 

Q. Is there an exhibit prepared that shows that f A. 
Yes. There is a table, Table H-1. 

Q. Well, will you indicate first, if you will, just what 
the health areas were again and Congressional districts 
in which they are to be found that you subjected to study, 
and then we can put the description in~ 

The Court: Did you say H-1 or 8-1 f 
Mr. Gladstein: H-1, your Honor, I heard him 

.say, and I don't think it is in your group. I will 
have one prepared for you. 

The Court : All right. You will come to that a 
little later. 

Mr. Glad stein: I will, yes. 
The Court : I was just trying to see if it was 

among these Challenge exhibits, but I see it is not. 
The Witness: No, it is not. 
Mr. Gladstein: My impression is that it is not. 
The Court: That is all right. 

(2374) By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Will you continue, Mr. Wilkerson~ A. All right. In 
the 21st Congressional district which, as you may remem-
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ber, is that part of Manhattan we think of as Washington 
Heights and Inwood, we chose two-the third and the 1.10 
health areas. 

Q. There is a health area that is designated by No. one 
decimal one ought; is that correct 1 .A. That is correct. 

Q. All right. A. In the 20th Congressional District, 
which embraces much of Riverside Drive and West End 
Avenue parallel to West Central Park, and also much of 
the Chelsea area-

The Court : Just a second. Which are the ones 
you pick up there in Washington Heights and In­
wood1 

The Witness: Three and one-tenth, or rather, 
one one ought. 

The Court: Wait a minute. The health area 
No.3-

The Witness: 1.10. In the extrement tip of 
Manhattan you will find health area 1.10. And be­
low it a little bit-

The Court: Let me get that one first before you 
begin going to another one because I don't seem to 
see it here. 

(2375~ The Witness: I think you are looking 
at the wrong map. Would you like me to help you 
there1 

The Court: It seems to me those numbers must 
appear in all these maps. 

The Witness: These are not the health area 
maps you are looking at. 

The Court: Oh, then I have the wrong page. 
Mr. McGohey: Will your Honor look on page 

21? 
The Court: Oh, yes. Where it says "Home 

heating." 
The Witness: No. Oh, yes. 
The Court: Well, it does say it, Mr. Wilkerson. 

What is the use of saying "No''1 Now, that 1.10 is 
the second, 1.10, and the other is 3. 

Q. Those are both in the 21st Congressional District, is 
that right? A. That is right. 
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Mr. Glad stein: Did your Honor get the health 
areas taken in Congressional District 17th~ 

The Court : No, I didn't. 
Mr. Gladstein: Well, perhaps you should make 

a note of it. 
The Court: I just want to follow 17. Have you 

covered that without my realizing it~ 
Mr. Gladstein: I think the witness did testify. 

Q. Would you repeat that testimony briefly so that the 
(2376) Court can-

Mr. 11cGohey: Pardon me, just a minute. 
Your Honor, I am looking at a map here that 

gives health areas and figures which appear to cor­
respond to what the witness is testifying, and that 
appears to be on page 21 of the volume that you 
have there. Maybe if we checked that with the wit­
ness we would be sure to be. on the same basis on 
which he is testifying. 

The Court : 21. 
Mr. McGohey: Could we have the witness look 

at that to make sure we are all talking about the 
same thing~ 

The Court : Sure. There is 1.10. 
The Witness: Yes, it is the same map that he 

was looking at but on a different page. And it might 
be well to remain on page 21. 

Mr. McGohey: Pardon~ 
The Witness: Page 21 is exactly the same map. 
Mr. McGohey: Are the corresponding figures 

the same also~ 
The Witness: Yes. You are looking at the popu­

lation page, I believe. Is the heading at the top of 
the page "Population' '~ 

Mr. McGohey: Yes. 
The Witness: So now you and the Judge are 

both (2377) looking at the same page. 
Mr. McGohey: And that is the page that you 

will be talking about, is it~ 
The Witness: No, I won't be talking about any 

of those pages. 
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Mr. McGohey: That doesn't help. 
The Witness: However, it will help you to refer 

to those pages so that you can see-
The Court: Let us all quiet down now and take 

it easy. What we have got before us is page 21, 
and we will let 1fT. Gladstein get going again, be­
cause I notice Mr. Wilkerson and I are standing 
up and everybody is standing up, and now we are 
back on the rail and Mr. Gladstein is going to lead 
me back into the 17th Congressional District tem­
porarily. 

Mr. Gladstein: Just temporarily. 
The Court : Yes. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now what health areas did you study that are 
located in the Congressional District that is numbered 
17th Y A. We studied health area 41 which is along Fifth 
Avenue, adjacent to Central Park, and 50 which is below 
Central Park-well, it is Third Avenue, to First Avenue. 

The Court: No. 41 is where-
(2378) Mr. Gladstein: N·o. 50, your Honor. 
The Court: 41, I say, is the one where I live, 

isn't it 1 
The Witness: I don't have a map before me. 
The Court: But that is all right. This map I 

think makes it look that way. What is the next one 
after 41 ~ 

Mr. Gladstein: No. 50. 
The Court: 51~ 
Mr. Gladstein: No. 50. 
The Court: All right. I am sometimes puzzled 

as I listen here as to the way this sampling is done. 
I have always sort of assumed that when a statis­
tician got working that these haphazard samples 
were perhaps got up with something more than 
casual .selection. 

Mr. Gladstein: Let me ask Mr. Wilkerson that 
question right now. 

The Court: Yes. 
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Q. What guided you, 11r. Wilkerson, in determining 
which of the health areas in these Congressional Districts 
you would subject to study~ A. Through an examination 
of such indices as we mentioned earlier, as rent, popula­
tion, characteristics. Primarily we sought to get health 
areas which ·were relatively comparable and which came 
from what we know to be generally the same types of 
neighborhoods (2379) in Manhattan. 

The Court : You keep adding ''that we know to 
be'' every once in a while. And, of course, I must 
take it for granted that you do not know everything. 

The Witness: No, but I do know some things, 
your Honor. 

The Court: Yes. But it makes it a little bit 
confusing. And I thought for a time you were basing 
these things on the census figures, but every once 
in a while you keep putting in that phrase, "as we 
know,'' and it is a little bit puzzling to me. But 
that is all right. 

The Witness: Mr. Gladstein, I should be glad, 
if the Court wishes, to prepare a memorandum indi­
dicating specifically the data which were used as 
the basis for the selection of these health areas. We 
did not prepare it because we did not think there 
would be an issue there. But I can very readily 
do that. 

Mr. Gladstein: All right. We will have it done 
and we will .submit it later on. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now, is it correct to say-

The Court: Now, is it really essential in con­
nection with these tables to take not only official 
and some unofficial data such as you have put in 
evidence ( 2380) here and referred to, but also 
bring in a lot of elements about what individuals 
know or do not know~ Is that really necessary7 

Mr. Gladstein: No. The witness is testifying 
your Honor, as he has said, to studies made regard-

LoneDissent.org



982 

Doxey A. Wilkersonr-for Defendants on Challenge­
Recalled-Direct 

ing health areas and in determining which health 
areas were to be subjected to study, because there 
are about 95 in Manhattan alone. 

Q. And it would be a task of tremendous magnitude, 
wouldn't it, Mr. Wilkerson, to subject all 95 or so of 
health areas in Manhattan alone to this kind of a study1 
A. It would. 

Q. Going back over a number of years with respect to 
jury panels~ A. Yes. 

Q. All right. A. And if I may, I would like to indicate 
one of the main types of information that I know that are 
not census data that centered into the selection of these 
sample areas. 

Q. Do so. A. We have made an analysis of the geo­
graphical distribution of jurors in the Southern District 
on the basis of which I know certain areas where jurors 
come from in rather large numbers and other areas where 
they come from in relatively small numbers. That was 
one of the types of information that we used, along with 
certain census data, in selecting what seemed to (2381) 
be health areas which are typical of different areas of 
the community. 

·Q. In other words, if I understand you correctly, and 
by way of illustration let us take five-

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, either the 
witness knows what he took into consideration, and 
he seems to have stated it-

The Court: Yes, he has already testified to it. 
11r. 11cGohey: He has already testified to it. 

I don't think it is either necessary or proper for 
counsel to supplement that by some testifying from 
out there. 

JYir. Gladstein: Well, I am not testifying. I 
will just ask a question. 

The Court: I think that is so. Why don't you 
get along with your case. 
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(2382) By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Mr. Wilkerson, is it or not true that the health 
areas-which one, for example, did you take, which one 
or more did you take in the 22nd Congressional District 1 
A. In the 22nd Congressional District we took the 8th 
and the 15th. 

Q. Nos. 8 and 15 7 A. That is correct. Both are in 
Harlem. 

Q. Are those fairly representative of the health areas 
contained within the 22nd District~ A. They are. 

Q. Are Nos. 41 and 50, the health areas numbered 41 
and 50 fairly representative of the health areas contained 
within the 17th Congressional District~ A. They are. 

Q. Is the same true, that is, are Nos. 3 and 1.10 health 
areas, are they fairly representative of all the health 
areas contained within the 21st Congressional District~ 
A. Yes. And when I say yes and answer affirmatively, 
as much as two particular health areas could be of a larger 
area. Now, within that framework the answer is yes. 

Q. What did you do about the 20th Congressional Dis~ 
trict ~ Did you take health areas there? A. In the 20th 
District we took areas-! think I (2383) mentioned that 
-the 34th and 51st. 

The Court: 34 and 51? 
The Witness: That is correct. 

Q. Are those two health areas fairly representative of 
the health areas contained within the 20th Congressional 
District? A. Yes, they represent two types of areas which 
are included in the 20th Congressional District. 

Q. Will you indicate where those health areas are 
located, in a general way~ A. Well, again I do not have 
a map before me, but 34 I recall is towards the Hudson 
at about the upper-parallel to the upper part of Central 
Park; and 51 is on the West Side, a little below a line 
that would be drawn at the end of Central Park, below 
42nd Street, if I remember. 

Q. What did you do about Congressional District 18Y 
A. We took from 18 two health areas. 
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Q. Which ones~ A. One in what is known as East 
Harlem, the 21st health area, and another in what is gen­
erally known as Yorkville, the 33rd health area. 

Q. What about the 19th Congressional District~ A. 
In the 19th Lower East Side we took two. 

Q. Which ones~ A. 58, often referred to a Stuyvesant 
Square area. 

The Court : 581 
(2384) The Witness: That is correct. 

A. (Continuing) And 67, a predominantly Jewish com­
munity on the extreme southeast part, if I remember the 
map correctly, of the 19th District. 

Q. That is true Lower East Side, isn't it~ A. 67th. 
That is right. 

Mr. McGahey: Pardon me. 
If your flonor please, the witness has charac­

terized this health area as a predominantly Jewish 
area. I should like to know what was the collateral 
data from which that information was obtained. 

The Witness: That information is available in 
the census reports on health areas. No, wait a 
minute. Pardon me. That information is available 
in the New York Market Analysis. 

The Court: It says how many Jews are in every 
one of these sections~ 

The Witness: No. The New York City Market 
.Analysis indicates the proportion, or, rather, it in­
dicates the major racial and religious groups which 
comprised the population of the areas used in that 
survey. That is one source of information. The 
other collateral information-

The Court: Let me take a look at that before 
we go any further. I have never realized there 
was any ( 2385) such thing as that. 

The Witness : 1 think I should say also-
The Court: Let us stick to this and then you 

can ramble on a little later. 
l\fr. Gladstein: Now, your Honor, your Honor 

asked a question and the witness was about to 
answer it. 
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The Court: I asked for that book, and that is 
what I am going to get. 

11r. Gladstein : Indeed you are. But I want to 
object-

The Court : If you think he has not been ram­
bling on, you get the minutes tonight or tomorrow 
and you will see plenty of rambling. 

Now, where is this part that shows just how many 
Jews there are everywhere~ 

Mr. Sacher: On the upper righthand side of the 
page, your Honor. 

11r. Gladstein: Does your Honor wish me to 
read it~ 

The Court: No, I can read that myself. I would 
like to find out, though. 

I don't believe I quite see that. 
11r. Gladstein: Can I help~ 
The Court: Yes, you may. 
Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor \\rill find on page 3 

(2386) the designation "11anhattan, Lower East 
Side.'' Underneath that certain tabulation· figures. 
The figure there given is 234,934, and a notation is 
made that that alone is larger than all of Omaha, 
Nebraska. Then there is given a notation that the 
white population is 124,234. The foreign born who 
are white 100,566, the Negro population which is 
1800, and other races 8,334. 

Then this statement, ''Most of the foreign born 
are Russian and Central European Jews, Italians to 
the southeast; a tiny Chinatown on Pell and Mott 
Streets.'' Thereafter follow data concerning the 
families. There are 67,642 families in that area. 

The Court : Yes. Well, I don't want to know 
about that. 

l\1r. Gladstein: And so forth and .so on, giving 
the rent data and so on. 

The Court: Apparently the emphasis there is 
on the Russian and Central European part and they 
are Jews. I take it that native-born Jews are not 
specifically enumerated in this book. 
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Mr. Gladstein: Not the actual number. The 
fact is .stated that most of those people are Jews 
who come from Central Europe and Russia, I think 
it said. 

The Court: Because I would be surprised to find 
any such statistical data made up as that. 

(2387) Mr. Gladstein: You might, by way of 
illustration, your Honor, also look at another por­
tion there to indicate-may I have that for a 
moment~ 

The Court: Yes. 
Mr. McGohey: Your Honor, I now move, in view 

of the reference to the exhibit, to strike the charac­
terization-predominantly Jewish neighborhood. 

The Court: Does anybody want to oppose that 
motion before I decide it~ 

Mr. Sacher: Yes, I oppose it. I think the 
characterization is one that is very well known in 
New York and is statistically supported by Ex­
hibit 20. 

The Court: :.Motion granted. 
Mr. Gladstein: I wanted to show you that por­

tion that deals with Harlem, but I do not suppose 
it is essential at this point. 

The Court: No. I am satisfied now from exam­
ining that book that there are no statistics that 
purported to show just where all the Jews are or 
how many Jews there are here or there and all over. 
I hadn't expected to find such statistics and I see 
now there are none. 

Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor, I was paying at­
tention to the fact that someone was bringing an 
exhibit in and I am sorry I didn't catch-! apologize 
to the Court for the fact that I didn't catch your 
Honor's (2388) statement. May I have it read 1 

(Record read.) 

Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor, there are statistics 
as to where the people live and how many of them 
live in .such areas, and there are facts set forth in 
the exhibits in evidence, and these are facts well 
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known to anybody as to the proposition that many, 
most of the people who live in a particular area 
are of one or another racial or religious character. 

We know for a fact that the Negro people by 
reason of circumstances that I do not have to go 
into at the moment reside mainly in Manhattan in 
the Harlem area; and we know that the Lower East 
Side has been for many years and is now a place in 
which Jewish people live. 

The Court: Well, we are supposed to have re­
ligious toleration in this country, and we have a 
democracy, and this idea of finding how many of 
this religion and that religion, and how many Jews 
there are on this block and another block, does not 
appeal to me at all. 

Mr. Sacher: The church has published their 
figures. 

The Court: Well, maybe so, maybe we have to 
(2389) do it. 

Mr. Gladstein: It does not appeal to me either 
to make any distinctions on the basis of race or 
color or religion, and that is precisely the point 
here. If some body did not start out with the inten­
tion to make such distinctions we would not have 
to be presenting here the fact that because of these 
concentrations being as they are, because certain 
races, certain religious groups, certain social groups 
live in certain portions of Manhattan and Bronx, 
that has made it easy for somebody to do a bit of 
.selecting at the outset, and the proof of that selec­
tion is shown by what is pictorially presented in 
these charts and rna ps. 

The Court: Well, wherever the statistics bear 
you out, I will permit you to put in the charts taken 
from the statistics. 

Mr. Gladstein: Very well, your Honor. 
The Court : In the 'particular instance in ques­

tion I find the statistics do not bear you out, and 
I have stricken out the answer. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, you have stricken out the 
characterization, is that correct~ 
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The Court: That is right, of predominantly 
Jewish. 

(2390) By ~fr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now Mr. Wilkerson, what was the nature of the 
study that you made with respect to the health areas and 
Congressional Districts that you have just been referring 
toT A. We made an analysis of the occupational dis­
tribution of male, female, total gainfully employed workers 
in these different health areas; we gave attention to the 
rental average in 1940 in these areas, to important national 
groups, or groups with varying national origins in these 
particular areas; we considered the number of jurors on 
six panels-

Q. Which were the six~ A. I don't have that reference 
here but I think it is on a map. I will give it to you a 
little bit later. 

The Court : Are they the same six that were 
taken in connection with the Westchester statistics~ 

The Witness: I think they were not. I would 
rather not answer the question until I have the spe­
cific information before me. 

Q. I believe you have it. I will ask you this: Was a 
map made that shows graphically the tabular results of 
that study with respect to jurors~ A. There was. 

Q. And on this map were pins placed to indicate the 
location of the jurors~ A. Yes. 

(2391) Q. And the jurors' residences were taken from 
the jury lists, I take it, that were obtained from the clerk¥ 
A. That is correct. 

Q. And I will .ask you if you have tabulations which 
are related to the map that you have been talking about T 
.A. Yes. 

Mr. Gladstein: Will you mark this, Mr. Clerk. 
The Witness: May I answer the question now 

about the panels from which the jurors were taken¥ 
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Q. If you have that information, please do. A. There 
were not six panels but five including the two listings of 
the January 17th panel. 

Q. Well, we called those separate, so actually we better 
say there were six. There were two panels for the 17th; 
there was a first one and a second. A. Those two, and then 
December 7, 1948 ; November 15, 1948 ; May 4, 1948, and 
March 4, 1947. 

Q. All right. Now I will ask you to look at-

The Court: Just a second. That makes four. 
I suppose in view of the colloquy he meant to in­
clude the two of January 17th, 19491 

Mr. Gladstein: He started out to. 
The Court: Yes. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 93 for 
identification.) 

(2392) By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now I show you Defendants' Exhibit-Challenge 
Exhibit 93 for identification, and ask you if this is the 
map to which you have just had reference Y A. That is 
the map. 

Q. And it was prepared under your supervision, is that 
correct Y A. That is correct. 

Q. Does it accurately present and portray what it pur­
ports toY A. It does. 

Mr. Gladstein: I offer it in evidence, your 
Honor. 

l\1r. McGohey: Your Honor, it is not clear to 
me what this map purports to represent. 

Mr. Gladstein: I will withdraw the offer. 

Q. Let me call your .attention to the map and ask you 
to indicate where the health areas are located on it. 

Mr. Gladstein: Do you want to take a pointer? 
The Witness : I would like to. 
Mr~ Gladstein: Here is one right here. 
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The Witness: .And I will bring with me certain 
tabular data that you might call for in the course of 
the discussion. 

(Witness approaches easel.) 

A. First, the health areas themselves: This is health 
area No. 110, or rather, 1.10 in the Inwood area and the 
(2393) Washington Heights area, health area 3. In the 
general :Harlem area we chose health 8 and health area 15. 

The Court: Well, it shows all the ones that you 
enumerated~ 

Q. Is that right, lVIr. Wilkerson~ A. That is correct. 
Q. In other words, the 12 health areas in the six Con­

gressional Districts that you have testified to as being 
subject to study are here reflected on and drawn upon the 
map that is Challenge Exhibit 93 for identification; is that 
right~ A. That is correct. 

Q. Except that the Congressional District lines have 
not actually been drawn in~ A. That is correct. 

Q. All right. Now what is meant by the drawing that 
appears alongside of each of the indicated health areas 
on that exhibit? A. We have here legends which indicate 
the occupational distribution of males, male gainfully em­
ployed workers-

The Court : Over 14. 
The Witness: That is correct. 

A. (Continued) In these several health areas contrasting 
two groups. One is a combination of what we heretofore 
have characterized as executives and professionals, desig­
nated by the red symbols, and the other are manual work­
ers in accord with the definition previously given (2394) 
to the Court designated by the blue symbols; and if you 
are able to read the legend here-

Q. Well, before you go to the legend let me ask you 
this: what does each of those symbols represent inasmuch 
as the map shows, for example, with respect to the red 
symbol, that in connection with one health area you have 
one red symbol; in connection with another you will have 
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several of them~ A. The fact that there is one red symbol 
here for health area 15 means, as the legend indicates, 
tbat ten per cent of the gainfully employed workers in 
tbat health area-of the male gainfully employed-are 
professionals or executives. 

Q. Or both~ A. \V ell, that means that. 
Q. Yes, all right. A. They are included in the profes­

sional-executive combination. 
Q. All right. A. And 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 blue symbols 

to the right of health area 15 indicate that 80 per cent 
of the gainfully employed workers in that health area are 
classified as manual workers. This is male gainfully 
employed. 

Q. That is, they fall within one or another of the census 
classifications which in combination have been designated 
here in your testimony and on our exhibits .as manual 
workers 1 A. That is correct. 

(2395) Q. Now, I notice that in the one that you have 
just pointed to you had one red symbol and eight blue 
ones, totaling as to the two, 90 per cent. How do you 
account for the other 10 per cent~ A. We pointed out 
that this refers first to male gainfully employed, and there 
is one other factor that should be entered. It includes 
male gainfully employed other than in domestic service. 

Q. What about the clerical and sales~ A. The clerical 
and sales are not represented here, which is part of the 
explanation of the lack of a hundred per cent represen­
tation. 

Q. All rig·ht. A. Our purpose here was primarily 
to get a comparison between these two groups, the profe.s­
sional-executive group on the one hand and the other 
extreme of the occupational level, as some people define 
it, the manual workers. 

The Court: How does that figure out~ Now, if 
that takes in all the people who with certain allow­
ances and calculations would be eligible for jury 
which you speak of and are the males, it just is not 
service, and 90 per cent of them are in the classes 
possible that there are only 10 per cent including 
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all the females and all the people who were not in 
the classfications. I don't follow that. 

Mr. Gladstein: No. The witness said that the 
(2396) ten per cent, or whatever it was-for ex­
ample, there it was 10, but here, take this one, for 
example-

The Court: Let us stick to it. 
:Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, I suggest 

that the witness explain this exhibit rather than 
counsel. 

Mr. Gladstein: All right. 
The Court: Counsel probably had a good deal 

to do with getting it up. 
Mr. Gladstein: No. The witness prepared this 

and it merely reflects the fact-
The Court: There is nothing wrong about that 

at all. Now it is perfectly proper for counsel to 
work with an expert witness in getting up charts, 
and let us not get excited about that. 

Now, Mr. Wilkerson, you go ahead and explain. 
The Witness: All right. Our interest here, your 

Honor, is not to get son1e measure of people eligible 
for jury service. We give attention to that in other 
analyses that we will get to in time, I think. But 
our interest here is in characterizing different health 
areas with reference to two indices particularly: 
First, the relative distribution of male gainfully 
employed workers among the professional and ex­
ecutive categories on the one hand, and the manual 
worker categories exclusive of domestic .service on 
the other. 

( 2397) The other index is that of rents. We 
have not-

The Court: Yes, but the whole question we were 
talking· about is, you get 10 per cent plus 80 per 
cent, makes 90 per cent, and somebody said Where 
is the other 10 per cent, and I understood you to 
say they are the females and the other people that 
we have not taken into account, like the domestics, 
which does not make any sense. That is why I am 
asking you to explain. 
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The Witness: I think the record will show that 
I did not say females. I did say that clericals are 
not included. 

The Court : Oh, all right. 
N o,v, why weren't they included 1 
The Witness: Because we were interested here 

in two things : One, in not cluttering up the map 
with so many symbols as to make it hard to dis­
tinguish, but more fundamentally in drawing the 
sharp contrast between what are popularly thought 
of as the upper end of the occupational distribution 
and the lower end. 

The Court : All right, we will take our recess 
now. 

(Short recess.) 

(2398) JYir. Gladstein: Shall I resume~ 
The Court : Yes. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now, with respect to No. 93 for identification, what 
was the source from which was obtained the information 
shown on that map, on that exhibit, with respect to rents t 
A. If you will hold it just a minute, sir, I will tell you. 
Oh, the source, by the way, of all of this information, the 
census materials, is the census volume on statistics for 
health areas. 

Q. This has been introduced in evidence, has it, Mr. 
Wilkerson 7 A. Our copy had been and it had been marked. 
I ended up yesterday with another copy, and you mentioned 
you had taken a copy, so I suspect you have the one that 
is marked in evidence. 

Mr. Gladstein: It is the one called Population 
and Housing, Statistics for Health Areas, New York 
City. 

Mr. McGohey : No, we don't have a copy marked 
in evidence. 

The Court: Well, I have got it right in my 
records here. It is Exhibit 10, and it is in evidence. 

M:r. Gladstein: All right. 
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Q. Now, the material that appears with respect to rents 
and other matters on this No. 93 came from Exhibit 10, 
is that right~ A. That is right. 

( 2399) Q. Will you explain what is indicated by the 
green rectangular forms on this exhibit~ A. That is an 
indication of the average contract or estimated rent as 
reported by the census report on health areas for 1940, 
and each symbol, complete symbol, indicates an average 
rental of $20 per month. Hence, an area such as this, 
which seems to have two symbols-

Q. When you say ''this'' you mean No. 15 ~ A. No. 
15, is an area in which the average rent in 1940 was 
about $40. 

The Court : $40 1 

The Witness: Yes. 

Q. Each green symbol, in other words, represents a 
$20 bill, is that right, Mr. Wilkerson~ A. Each green 
symbol is a $20 bill for rent, yes. 

Q. All right. A. Take No. 41, which has 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 
6, 7, 8, 9, 10, and the tip of another symbol, indicating that 
the average rental in health area 41 is a little over $200 
a month. 

Q. As of 1940~ A. As of 1940. 
Q. And based on official census data~ A. That is 

correct. 

The Court: A little over $100 a month or $200 
a month~ 

The Witness: $200, your Honor. 

Q. Now, what are the pins that appear on the map, 
some (2400) of which are colored red and some colored 
blue~ 

The Court: Where are the blue ones~ 
The Witness: There are not many there, but 

there are a few. 
The Court : Let me come down and take a look 

at that. 
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Q. What are they, ~fr. Wilkerson 1 A. The red pins 
represent executives and professionals who were called 
for service or who were listed on the federal petit. jury 
panels represented by this map. 

Q. In other words, every red pin represents the name 
of a juror whose name appears on one or another of the 
six jury panels covered by this Exhibit No. 93 who are 
either in the executive or professional group and live 
in one of those health areas? A. That is correct. 

Q. And the blue pins? A. The blue pins represent 
manual workers who served on jury panels, the ones that 
are being analyzed here, and who live in the health area 
concerned. 

Q. All right. Now .starting with the uppermost health 
area, will you testify as to what that map shows with 
respect to jurors, the data concerning executive, profes­
sional or other occupational breakdown, and the rental 
figures? A. Well, health area 110 up in the Inwood dis­
trict-

(2401) Q. You mean 1.10' .A. 1.10. 
Q. All right. A. -has among-or rather, in that area 

where something less than 10, 20-a little less than 30 per 
cent, approximately 27 or 28 per cent of the gainfully em­
ployed workers-

Q. Males~ A. Males or executives or professionals, and 
where approxin1ately 40 per cent of the male ga.infully em­
ployed in 1940 were manual workers, had two jurors on 
these six panels who w·ere executives or professionals, no 
jurors who were manual workers-

Q. And the average rent- A. It should be made clear, 
however-the average rent there is approximately $50. 

Q. All right. A. It should be made clear that the two 
pins do not represent the total number of jurors, because 
you will bear in n1ind that we cut out the category of 
clerical-sales in order to 1nake sharper the contrast between 
manual workers on the one hand and executives and pro­
fessionals on the other. 

The Court: It may make it sharper but it re­
duces the thing to hopeless confusion. 
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Mr. Gladstein: We will supply tabular data to 
show the extent to which in those locations, in those 
health areas, and in that grouping of clerical and 
sales, there are to be found jurors on those six 
panels. 

(2402) Q. Will you continue? Did you find any manual 
workers in that health area? A. There were no manual 
workers in that health area at all. 

Q . .Among those jurors on the six panels? A. That is 
right. 

Mr. McGohey: Pardon me for just a moment. 
If the Court please, I desire at this time to ob­

ject to the introduction of this n1ap, and therefore 
I would object to any further testimony from what 
the map shows. I should like, if I may, to state 
the reasons for my objection to the introduction 
of the map. 

The Court: You may do so. 
Mr. McGohey: I believe that the map is ir­

relevant to the issue on trial before the Court as to 
exclusion of certain types of jurors. 

I point out to your Honor that the map on its 
face is limited to six panels of jurors, although we 
have been talking at various times of 30 panels, 28 
panels, 12 panels, and so on. 

I point out that it is limited to merely 12 health 
areas, and that it is also limited only to one county 
within the Southern District of New York; and 
chiefly I desire to point out that there has been left 
out one whole category of the types of population 
which the witness himself has selected, namely, the 
clerical ( 2403) and sales type. 

So that by reason of the combination of these 
exclusions this map cannot give a true picture of 
anything; and the last item of testimony that the 
witness gave was that it was designed to bring out 
sharp contrasts. I am interested in finding out 
what the facts are and not the sharp contrasts where 
certain items are excluded. 

I also believe that the data here excludes the 
category of women altogether. 
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I object to the introduction of the map. 
The Court: Do you desire to be heard, Mr. 

Sacher~ 
Mr. Sacher: May it please the Court, I think 

the objection overlooks the basic facts which are 
involved in this proposed exhibit: In the first place, 
it is to be borne in mind that what we are trying 
to do here is to shorten the proceedings, and there­
fore we are in the first instance trying to provide 
the Court with samples of typical areas so as to 
avoid the necessity of giving your Honor these 
facts in regard to all the health areas. 

Now, if Mr. McGohey desires a breakdown of 
each and every health area in the Southern District 
of New York we shall be happy to provide him with 
it, if you will only give us time within which to 
do it. 

(2404) Therefore, it seems to me, he either 
fishes or cuts bait; either he is going to agree that 
we may submit samples to your Honor so that you 
may base such conclusions on them as samples which 
are typically provided, or else he must take the 
other alternative and say that he is ready to give 
us the time to submit to the Court an analysis of 
each health area and a distribution of all the jurors 
not only on these six panels and not only on the 31 
panels, but on maybe the 250 or 300 which have 
served in the past ten years. 

Now, to proceed to the basic soundness and cor-
rectness of the exhibit-

The Court: That I think is more important­
Mr. Sacher: All right, I will do that immediately. 
The Court: -because you bring up what he de-

sires and what he does not desire, and I am not 
ruling on anybody 's desire. I am merely ruling on 
whether this proof is relevant and competent or 
not, and any ruling I make is not to be taken as 
an indication that you are to go out and prepar.e a 
lot of other charts. Nothing of that sort is involved, 
as I see it. The question is whether this exhibit is 
admissible. 
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Mr. Sacher: Now I would like to address myself 
first to the objection made that this is a selection 
from among health areas in 1\fanhattan alone, and 
I suppose Mr. (2405) McGohey's point is that 
there are largely three counties from which the 
jurors are selected ; and in that connection I wish 
to observe that approximately 50 per cent or more 
of all the jurors named on the various panels came 
from Manhattan; and I can only repeat, if he thinks 
that Manhattan or New York County is not enough, 
then just give us the tilne and -vve will give you all 
the counties. 

No.3-
The Court: Now, I suspect if you think that you 

are going to get all the counties, and then you are 
going to call every member of the population, as 
Mr. Crockett a little while ago said, ''We might 
have to call every Negro from Harlem,'' I can tell 
you right now that you are not going to be permitted 
to do that. 

Mr. Sacher: Your Honor-
The Court: So don't let your mind dwell on 

that subject for even a brief moment, because noth­
ing like that is going to happen in this court. 

Mr. Sacher: Your Honor, I am assuming only 
one thing in 'vhat I am saying, and that is that we 
will be given an opportunity to present as expediti­
ously as possible such evidence as will have probative 
value one way or the other. 

We are interested in giving your Honor proba­
tive value to prove that Negroes are excluded, that 
Jews are (2406) -excluded, that the poor are ex­
cluded, that the rich are included. 

The Court: Yes. Now why don't you show 
me~ 

Mr. Sacher: That is -vvhat I am going to do. 
The Court: But you get off every once in a 

while. 
Mr. Sacher: Because I am dealing with each 

objection named. 
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Now, query, does this exhibit reveal anything 
tending to establish what we are talking about~ I 
maintain the following: If you take the 12 health 
areas, you find in each area, No. 1, a distribution 
of the gainfully employed on the basis of those who 
fall into the so-called executive-professional cat­
egories on the one hand, and manual workers on 
the other. 

Now, we have not thus far contended that the 
so-called clerical or sales force is disproportionate­
over-represented or under-represented. The basic 
contention we are making here is that manual 
workers are excluded in such substantial part be­
cause of the discriminatory and systematic practice 
as to constitute an unconstitutional and an illegal 
administration of justice. 

Now, we say when you tie up the evidence in 
( 2407) regard to the total population in each health 
area, with the manual worker population on the one 
hand and the executive-professional population on 
the other, it immediately becomes evident as follows: 
One, that in areas in which there are large worker 
populations, where, let us say, the manual workers 
constitute 80 to 90 per cent of the male gainfully 
employed, you don't find a single juror on any of 
these six panels, and my recollection is there are 
thre·e or four such health areas where there is not 
a single juror on a panel. 

On the other hand-
The Court: Now, if you took one juror from 

every health area in the Southern District of New 
York, you would not have enough jurors to go 
around, would you~ 

Mr. Sacher: That is not the point we are mak­
ing. 

The Court: I say-
Mr. Sacher : We are not saying if you take just 

one. That is not the point we are making. 
The Court: No, but you are picking out as the 

witness says at random certain ones; and what is 
becoming increasingly plain to me is, first, that you 
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have got all this statistical data in the record al­
ready to lay a foundation for such argument as you 
care to make; and, secondly, that this chart, this 
exhibit, is misleading, and I am inclined to think 
that I am going to rule it out. 

(2408) Mr. Sacher: May I step up here be­
cause I would like to point to a couple of figures on 
the chart~ 

The Court : Yes, you may. 

(Mr. Sacher approaches the easel.) 

Mr. Sacher : Now, for instance, you take h-ealth 
area 41, which is in the 17th Congressional Dis­
trict, and you find that in that area executives and 
professionals constitute approximately 60 per cent 
of the gainfully employed males in that health 
area. 

The Court : Over 14 ~ 
Mr. Sacher: Over 14. The discounts-your 

Honor keeps on saying ''over 14. '' 
The Court: Because we have got to discount 

this, discount that, exclude that-
Mr. Sacher: May I recall to your Honor that 

Mr. Wilkerson has already testified that when you 
deduct those in the male gainfully employed popula­
tion between the ages of 14 and 21, and those over 
70, that figure comes to seven per cent of the total 
male gainfully employed workers. 

Is that correct, Dr. Wilkerson 1 
The Witness: That is correct. 
The Court: Seven per cent is quite a figure. 
(2409) Mr. Sacher: Well, when we consider it 

in context-
The Court: You go ahead. 
Mr. Sacher: All right. 
Now, you have just one manual worker in that 

area where the manual population constitutes 15 per 
cent. 

Now take health area 33, for instance, where 
there are 80 per cent of the manual workers. 
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Now look at all the red pins there are in 41, 
whBre only 60 per cent are executives-that is, 60 
per cent of the male population, male gainfully em­
ployed population as executives, you have here, I 
guess, about 50 pins or thereabouts-40 or 50 jurors 
it looks like. 

On the other hand, take health area 33 where 
you have 80 per cent of the male gainfully employed 
population where the rent is about $25 a month, the 
average rent, and where there is only 10 per cent 
of executives, there is not a single juror from that 
district. 

Now, how come that in health area 41 where 60 
per cent of the male gainfully employed are execu­
tiv-es and professionals you have 40 to 50 jurors 
represented on these six panels, and that health 
area 33 where 80 per cent of the male gainfully 
employed are manual workers, you don't have a 
single manual worker~ 

The Court: A great variety of factors. 
( 2410) Mr. Sacher : Well, we will get those 

modifying factors later, but the point is that initially 
unless you allow this to go in we cannot make the 
calculations necessary to show that when you have 
made deduction in these health areas for those under 
21 and over 70, and those who are non-citizens, 
.and thos·e who are illiterate, and those who are 
aliens-well, that is covered by non-citizens, et 
cetera,-if you don't allow us to put in this base, 
we cannot arrive at that figure which constitutes 
the irreducible minimum against which our argu­
ment must either stand or fall in regard to the 
mathematical discrimination which we want to 
demonstrate here. 

The Court: But you have all those data in 
evidence already. 

Mr. Sacher: No. This data is not in evidence at 
all yet, because, your Honor, what we are doing 
here, and we think-! prefer now, I think, if your 
Honor desires, to get back here. 

The Court: Yes. 
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(Mr. Sacher leaves easel and approaches counsel 
table.) 

:l\1:r. Sacher: I wish to make one point here: 
We have introduced evidence thus far which in­
dicates population distribution on the basis of Con­
gressional (2411) or political unit subdivisions. 

Now, that in itself does not indicate the complete 
picture that has to be demonstrated. It is the 
testimony in regard to the health areas which is an 
absolute necessity because this is statistically geared 
by Government figures to dernontrate the occupa­
tional composition of each and every area. I sub­
mit, for instance, your I-Ionor, that the evidence in 
regard to health area 41 is worth whole volurnes 
as to what comes out of the 17th Congressional Dis­
trict, because what our evidence is going to show 
now is not merely that these large clusters, these 
huge percentages of 40 to 50 per cent of all Man­
hattan jurors coming out of the 17th, we are now 
going to demonstrate through health area statistics 
that the 40 to 50 per cent of the Manhattan jurors 
which come out of the 17th Congressional District 
come out of a certain part of the 17th, namely, out 
of that part of the 17th where the rents are, as 
they appear to be in area 41, over $200 a month. 

The Court : Now let me ask you a question : 
Does one of the exhibits here indicate the data as 
to rentals 7 Now, don't go into a long argument. 
Just tell me. 

Mr. Sacher : No. I am trying to answer you 
(2412) yes or no. Maybe Mr. Gladstein could 
tell. 

Mr. Gladstein: There is no exhibit, your Honor, 
that correlates or gives the facts that ar·e shown on 
this map. 

The Court: I should think once in a while you 
gentlemen could give me a frank and straightfor­
ward answer. You know perfectly well that there 
is an exhibit here that does have the rentals in, 
don't you7 

Mr. Gladstein: That correlates the rentals~ 
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The Court: I am not talking about correlation. 
I am asking if the data gives that. 

Mr. Gladstein: The census data gives that. 
The Court: Sure. So that is in. 
Mr. Gladstein: That is right. 
The Court: Now, you have other exhibits and 

you have other data that shows where every single 
one of these jurors in every one of these panels that 
you put in evidence resides, haven't you T 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes. 
The Court: Then you can argue from them 

without producing a chart that seems to me to be 
misleading, and I sustain the objection. All I am 
doing is excluding the chart. 

Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor, I want to discuss 
a moment what the chart shows that is not in evi­
dence ( 2413) and also to address myself to the 
suggestion that it is misleading. It is not. 

What does this chart show1 It shows 12 health 
areas and the numbers of jurors who come in respect 
of six particular panels from those health areas. 
We have nothing in the record to designate the 
health areas fron1 which jurors come. 

The Court: Haven't we~ 
Mr. Gladstein: We have them in-
The Court: Just a second and I will show you 

something: You just look at these photographs here 
in these other exhibits, and you put that together 
with your other exhibits, with the health areas, and 
you have got the answer, haven't you~ 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, this exhibit shows where 
they live according to the-

The Court : Where each one lives-
Mr. Gladstein: Wait a minute, your Honor. 

-according to congressional districts-
The Court: Well, this data on those photographs 

when broken down and briefed or argued show 
exactly what you want, and all I am doing is ex­
cluding this chart which I think is misleading and 
not helpful. 

Mr. Gladstein: Now, let me address myself to 
it-
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The Court: Now, I understand the law to be 
that (2414) when you come to tabulations, charts 
and all that sort of thing the Court has a discretion 
as to whether to permit you to go to one length or 
another length in doing that; and in the exercise of 
that discretion I exclude this repetitious and, as 
it seems to me, misleading chart. 

Mr. Gladstein: May I finish my statement for 
the record, your Honor~ 

The Court: I really don't want to hear any 
more argument about it, Mr. Gladstein. You know, 
we have reached a point here in this trial where this 
incessant argument at length goes on and on, and 
I have a little understanding of these points, and 
it seems to me that the question we are now deter­
mining is a relatively simple one. So that I don't 
want to hear any more argument on it. I have ruled. 
You may pass on to something else. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, I want to make an offer 
to prove, then. 

The Court: Well, what you have already said­
Mr. Glad stein: No. 
The Court: -is about eight or ten offers of 

proof already. But go ahead, make some more. 
J\fr. Gladstein: I make this offer of proof, that 

if this witness were permitted to answer questions 
which I would put to him he would testify in sub­
stance and (2415) effect as follows: That Exhibit 
93 for identification is a map of Manhattan on which 
Congressional Districts are not shown but on which 
12 health areas have been drawn, identified by his 
testimonv in such manner as to show that two health 
areas fo~ each of the six named Congressional Dis­
tricts appear on this map. 

He would further testify that he has subjected 
to analysis for the purpose of establishing occupa­
tional distribution, geographical location and the 
av.erage or contract rent for each particular area 
based on census tables the six jury panels which 
are identified and referred to on Exhibit 93. 
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He ·would further in response to questions testify 
in substance and effect that with respect to health 
area 1.10, 30 per cent of the male gainfully occupied 
are in the executive class and about 40 per cent are 
manual workers; that on the six panels referred to 
by the map, two jurors were chosen only, and both 
of those two were either executives or professionals. 

He would testify with respect to health area No. 
3· that 30 per cent of the male gainfully occupied in 
that health area are in the executive or professional 
class, and 35-

The Court: Now, Mr. Gladstein, you know, it is 
(2416) apparent to me that you are doing the 
testifying here in substance, and I have held that 
the proof is all in the record; that the chart is 
merely a matter of argument from the facts already 
in the record, and I think you may desist from fur­
ther what you call offer of proof. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, may I have the witness 
testify to these facts 1 

The Court : I am not going to allow you to go 
on any longer to do the very thing that I have in 
substance ruled out. 

Mr. Gladstein: May I have the witness testify? 
You have said just now, your Honor, that the wit­
ness may testify concerning the facts; that what you 
are doing, however, is excluding the pictorial rep­
resentation of those facts. 

The Court: That is what I have been saying all 
the time, and that is what the objection was. 

Mr. Gladstein: Then I will ask the witness to 
testify concerning the facts. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. With respect to the six panels, Mr. Wilkerson, 
referred to in Exhibit 93 for identification-

Mr. McGohey: Pardon me, if your Honor please. 
If the witness is going to testify-if the chart is out 
(2417) of evidence, I suggest that it be removed. 
Let us have the witness's testimony but not from 
the chart. 
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The Court: I think perhaps what the witness 
is now being led to do is to get the chart in evidence 
by indirection. 

Mr. Gladstein: I am going to ask him for the 
facts and to testify concerning facts, but in order 
to indicate the field in which I desire to have him 
testify I have used the expression Exhibit 93 for 
identification; if that is what :M:r. McGohey objects 
to I will use some other expression to indicate the 
six panels and the twelve health areas in the six 
Congressional Districts that I want to talk about 
for the purpose of testifying. If that is his objec­
tion. 

Now, I want to say this too, your Honor, on the 
question of misleading. All one has to do in order 
to see where the clerical and sales employees are­

Mr. McGahey: I suggest, your Honor, that that 
has been ruled on. 

The Court: Yes. 
Mr. Gladstein: But nothing has been mentioned 

on that subject. 
The Court: "\Vell, Mr. Gladstein, my recollection 

is that you 1nentioned it three times; perhaps you 
mentioned it more times than that. But I desire you 
(2418) not to mention it any more. 

Mr. Gladstein: You mean, clerical and sales 
employees~ 

The Court : Yes. I have been listening to all 
this for some time here and I just consider this 
whole matter that you have got there as not proving 
anything that is of any probative force. 

Mr. Gladstein: May I do this, to assist me in 
questioning the witness~ I should like to be able to 
look at the map even if I do not refer to it by name. 
Is that permissible, your Honor. 

The Court: No. I am a little bit inclined to 
think that what is going on now is just trying to 
get around my ruling and get it in by indirection, 
and I am not going to let you do that. 
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By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. I will ask you, Mr. Wilkerson, if you have tabulated 
data-

Mr. McGahey: If your Honor please, I should 
like the map removed before we go-

The Court : Well, I think Mr. Gladstein is going 
to forego that exhibit. 

Mr. McGohey: Yes, but he has the map up 
there. 

Mr. Sacher: So what~ 
:Nir. McGohey: It is irrelevant evidence. 
( 2419) The Court: I have been looking at the 

map myself, but if he is going on to something else 
I am going to let it remain there. If he is going to 
keep plugging away at this same proposition we will 
have the map taken away. 

Now, which is it going to be, Mr. Gladstein 1 
Mr. Gladstein: I just do not understand that, 

your Honor. Does your Honor mean that I can't 
examine the witness with respect to testimony that 
is material and that if I do attempt to have him 
testify to facts then the Court is going to penalize 
me in some fashion by ordering the removal of a 
map~ Is that the suggestion¥ 

The Court : Well, I would not want to penalize 
you. And perhaps it is better to have you put 
specific questions, and I will rule on them. But I 
am getting a distinct impression that what you are 
going to try to do is to get around my ruling by 
doing the same thing in another way. 

Mr. Crockett: I take it there would be no objec­
tion to the witness testifying from his notes and 
merely himself visually looking at the map to refresh 
his recollection~ 

The Court: Well that sounds to me about the 
same thing. 

Mr. Crockett: In any event--
( 2420) The Court : So I will take the bull by the 

horns, and I will sustain the objection to this entire 
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line of proof. There will be no questions, no chart, 
nothing about it whatsoever. Then we will definitely 
pass to something else. 

Mr. Crockett: I should like to have the record 
note an exception on behalf of my client. 

The Court: I have already indicated several 
times that whenever I make a ruling adverse to any 
of the defendants or their counsel each of the de­
fendants is deemed to have excepted thereto, and 
to get the benefit of the exception, unless some coun­
sel desires to ris-e and say that he does not desire 
the benefit of the exception. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Mr. Wilkerson, did you make a. study of six par­
ticular panels in reference to the location of jurors, those 
six panels being-

The Court : Are they the same ones we had be-
fore~ 

Mr. Gladstein: I want to name them, your Honor. 
The Court: Because I have a list of them here. 
Mr. Gladstein: I have a list here. 

Q. Thos-e six panels being for March 4, 1947, May 4, 
1948, November 15, 1948, December 7, 1948, the first list 
or panel of jurors for January 17, 1949, and the second 
panel for jurors of that same date. 

( 2421) The Court : Those are not the same 
dates, so I will have to have it read to me by the 
reporter. You keep shifting and take six panels 
from this point, 16 panels for some other point, 
.another six panels for something else, and I must 
say it is very confusing. But let me have it read 
by the reporter. 

Mr. Sacher: That is statistical practice, your 
Honor. 

Mr. Gladstein: If your Honor finds that the six 
I have just named are the sam·e six that you have 

LoneDissent.org



1009 

Doxey A. Wilkerson-for Defendants on Challenge­
Recalled-Direct 

listed down before and which were read into the 
record by the witness, will your Honor then with­
draw fron1 the record the remark that I keep shift­
ing~ 

The Court: Well, I do not see in my notes any 
Septen1ber item at all on those six panels. 

Mr. Gladstein: I do not recall saying Septem­
ber. 

The Court: \Vell, then, maybe that is where the 
trouble con1es. Let me have the reporter read 
that. 

(Record read.) 

The Court: It is evident that I was in error, and 
I am glad to say so. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now the question is, did you make a study with 
respect to geographical locations of jurors on those six 
panels, Mr. Wilkerson~ A. I did. 

(2422) Q. Now your study consisted of trying to lo­
cate them by virtue of the address given by the jury clerk, is 
that right~ A. That is correct. 

Q. You located them in the place where they reside, of 
course~ A. Yes. 

Q. Now, in what portions or areas or .subdivisions of 
the city did you find such jurors to be residing~ A. With 
reference to those six panels we found that in the 41 health 
area, which is in the 17th district, there were 58 jurors, all 
of the jurors; by ''all'' I mean all ·categories of jurors. 

Q. All right. A. In the 50 health area, also in the 17th 
Congressional District, there were 31 juror.s. In the third 
health area, which is up in Washington· Heights section, 
there were 62 jurors. In health area point, or rather, 1.10, 
the northern tip of Manhattan, the Inwood section, there 
were 12 jurors. 

Moving down to the 20th Congressional District, in the 
Riverside Drive, Central Park West area, part of that, the 
34th health area more specifically, there were 44 jurors. 
However, a little lower in the 20th Congressional District, 
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in the general Hell '.s Kitchen, Chelsea area, there were no 
jurors on these six panels. 

The Court: You mean 51 now. 
The Witness : This is 51. Thank you, your 

Honor. 

(2423) A. (Continuing) Moving to the 18th Congressional 
District, where we analyzed two health areas, No.-

The Court : 21 and 33. 
The Witness: Thank you, your Honor. But I 

was checking here on something else. 

A. (Continuing) One, No. 21, in what is generally known as 
East Harlem, and 33 in Yorkville, we found that in neither 
of those health areas was there a:p_y juror whatever on the 
six panels that we are here analyzing. 

Q. Any of the six panels? A. On any of the six panels. 
Q. All right. A. In the 19th Congressional district, 

which is in the Lower East Side, the health area 58, in the 
upper part of that district, had four jurors on these six 
panels. But health area 67, at the extremity almost of that 
district, .southern extremity, had no jurors whatever. 

And in the 22nd Congressional District we analyzed two 
health areas, the 8th and the 15th, and found that in each 
of those there was one juror to be found among the jurors 
on these six panels. 

Q. One in No. 8 and one in No. 15·, both located within 
the 22nd Congressional district? A. That is correct. 

Q. All right. Now, did you make an occupational study 
or a study for purposes of occupational breakdown of the 
jurors whom you found in these health areas (2424) re­
spectively~ 

The Court: Just a second. I have mislaid those 
charts that I had in my hand a minute ago. 

Mr. Gladstein: Did you want maps or charts, 
Judge~ 

The Court: Maybe they got down there (indi­
cating counsel table). 

(Mr. Gladstein hands to the Court.) 
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Q. Will you answer the question as to whether you 
made a study~ A. We did make a study. We represented 
the basic information we wanted in an exhibit which is now 
not in evidence and I did not bring with me my notes which 
would indicate, without the map, the information that you 
are asking for. I have such information and would be very 
glad to bring it if I have the opportunity. 

Q. You will be given an opportunity. 

Mr. McGohey: Pardon me. May I have the 
witness's last answer read, your Honor1 I did not 
hear it. 

(Record read.) 

Mr. Gladstein: Now what has been done during 
the time the Court called for the reading of the ques­
tion or Mr. McGohey did, was that a tabulated form 
of that information was found on the desk and 
has been supplied to the witness. 

Q. Is that correct, Mr. Wilkerson~ A. That is correct. 
(2425) This is what I was looking for. 

Q. So your answer is that you did make a study~ A. 
We did make an analysis of the occupational distribution 
of the jurors chosen on these six panels who live in the 
twelve health areas we have called attention to, their dis­
tribution among the categories of executives-professionals 
on the one hand, and of manual workers on the other, re­
stricting our analysis to male gainfully employed persons 
as reported by the census. 

Q. What did your study reveal. 

Mr. McGohey: Now, if your Honor please, I ob­
ject to that. I think the answer that the witness• 
gave just before this question indicates that the table 
that he is talking about reflects precisely what is on 
the chart. That kind of information would be as 
misleading as the chart would be. And I think it 
would be just as irrelevant to the issue before the 
Court. I object to it. 

The Court : Sustained. 
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Q. Mr. Wilkerson, drawing your attention to health 
area 41, located in Congressional District No. 17, in refer­
ence to which you have testified without objection that you 
found 58 jurors on the six panels-

Mr. ·Gladstein: Need I identify the six~ It is 
understood that there were six that were mentioned 
(2426) in the last few minutes. 

The Court: Yes, I have them all tabulated in my 
notes and I am following it perfectly. 

Mr. Gladstein: All right. 
The Court: I know just which 58 you are talk­

ing about. 
Mr. Gladstein: All right. 

Q. Now, with respect to these 58 jurors, did you make 
any effort to find out how many of them, based on the oc­
cupational description contained on the clerk's panels in 
this court, were gainfully employed in one or another of 
the occupations which ·comprise the general grouping­
manual workers~ 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Did you make a study with respect to the 58 jurors, 
the same 58, to find out how many of them were in one or 
another of any occupational grouping~ 

Mr~ McGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. You know, you have got 

tables in on that already. 
Mr. Gladstein: Regarding these~ 
The Court : Covering not six but many panels. 
Mr. Gladstein: No, we do not have data concern-

ing (2427) the 58 jurors in health area 41. 
The Court : No. And I don't think you are 

going to get it in. 
Mr. Gladstein: But it is very clear now that 

when your Honor says "No" that that is inconsist­
ent with what you said before. 

The Court: I mean '''No.'' It is beginning to 
percolate. 
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Mr. Gladstein: What you said before was that 
we had such data in. Now I take it it is clear we do 
not have the data for these 58 jurors. 

The Court: Well, that is where we get into a 
katy-did-katy-didn't business. And I am just sus­
taining the objection. 

Mr. Gladstein: All right. 
Mr. Sacher: Your Honor, if I understand it, 

your point is that there is health area data in the 
record, there is also an occupational enumeration in 
regard to jurors ; and your Honor says, as I under­
stand it, that if we wish to use this material it is sus­
ceptible of use in briefs and charts which we may 
submit later, rather than in the course of the trial. 
Is that the thought~ 

The Court: That shows extraordinary percep­
tion, Mr. Sacher. That is what I have been saying 
all along. 

Mr. Sacher : I just wanted to make certain. 
(2428) The Court: If you want to argue about 

that-
Mr. Sacher: No, I just wanted to know what 

your Honor-
The Court: No, I don't mean argue now, but I 

mean in whatever way the matter may be presented 
later. But I am not going to let this chart go in, I 
am not going to let in any additional table about it, 
and I am not going to let him testify on the subject. 
And one of my reasons is that I think that the entire 
matter is misleading and not helpful. 

Mr. Sacher: Misleading because it is partial, 
would you say 1 

The Court : Well,-
Mr. Sacher: That is what we would like to know, 

you .see. 
The Court: You know, you have acquired a sort 

of habit of asking me to explain all the things­
Mr. Sacher: No, we want a little guidance. If 

it is an inadequate sample we want to give all of it 
to you. 

The Court: I am not disposed to discuss the 
matter any further now. 

Mr. Sacher: All right. 
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By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now Mr. Wilkerson, did you count up or tabulate the 
(2429) number of manual workers, as you have used that 
expression whom you found on any one-well, on all of 
those six panels that we are talking about who live in that 
part of the 17th Congressional District which is known as 
health area 41 ~ 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court : Had you finished the question~ 
Mr. Gladstein: Yes, I think I had. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Did you make a count of the number of manual 
workers, as you have used that expression here, contained 
on the six jury panels that we are talking about who 
lived in that part of the 17th Congressional District known 
as health area 50~ 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 

Q. Did you make a count of the number of manual 
workers shown on the clerk's jury panels who lived in that 
part of the 21st Congressional District known as Health 
area 3~ 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court : Sustained. 

Q. Did you make such a study to ascertain how many 
manual workers there were among the jurors on the six 
panels you were talking about who lived in the 21st 
( 2430) Congressional District or any part thereof~ 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court : Sustained. 

Q. And particularly in that part which 1s known as 
health area 1.10~ 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court : Sustained. 
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Q. Did you make a study to see where the jurors on 
these six panels that we are discussing lived in the 20th 
Congressional District who according to the occupational 
description contained in the clerk's lists are manual 
workers~ 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. Gladstein: Now may I make an offer of 

proof on this, your Honor, so that the record will be 
clear~ I desire to prove-

The Court: Well, you can repeat a little bit if 
you wish. 

Mr. Gladstein: I desire to prove that if the wit­
ness were permitted to answer the questions to which 
objection has been made and which obje·ctions have 
been sustained, and if he were permitted to answer 
further questions logically and naturally flowing 
from his ( 2431) answer to the questions that he 
has not been able to answer, he would testify that 
he found as a result of his study-

The Court: Oh, I see what you are getting at. 
No, I am not going to allow that. That is just what 
you did before. 

Mr. Glad stein : I desire to make an offer of proof 
for the record. I think I have a right to do that. 

(2432) The Court: I consider that there has 
been a sufficient indication of your purpose, and 
what you are offering to prove by this line of proof 
I have excluded. 

~fr. Gladstein: Then I will prepare a written 
offer of proof and present that. 

The Court: You may do that, and it should be 
marked. 

Q. Now, Mr. Wilkerson, I want to ask you something 
about one of the exhibits that has been marked for identifi­
cation-here it is, it is Exhibit No. 21-and is known as 
''Address Telephone Directory'' (handing). Do you have 
an extra copy of that~ I don't have it. A. I think so. 
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Mr. Gladstein: I will withdraw that last ques­
tion. 

Q. Regarding the six panels that we have discussed, did 
you make a check to find out what the statistical data were 
concerning the voting population in the areas as to which 
you subjected the six panels to study~ A. I did. 

Q. What was the nature of that investigation? A. With 
each of 12 sample health areas we analyzed the number of 
jurors, including the entire group of jurors for the health 
area, for the six panels in relationship to the voting popu­
lation and also in relationship (2433) to average 
monthly rent in the health area concerned. 

The Court: Those are the 12 health areas that 
you testified about before 1 

The Witness: Yes, but these data-
The Court: The 17th District, 41 and 50; 21st, 

3 and 11 and so on. 
The Witness: That is eorrect. 

Q. What did your .study showf A. My study showed 
that in health area 41, which is along Fifth Avenue in the 
17th Congressional District and where the average monthly 
rent in 1940 is $202 per month, there were 52 jurors chosen 
per thousand voters in the Congressional elections for­
I will tell you the year in just a moment. 

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, I object to 
this and move to strike out that answer on the 
ground that it is clearly, now, irrelevant and-

The Court: Objection sustained. 
Mr. Gladstein: This is something quite different. 
The Court: And the motion is granted. 
Mr. Gladstein: It has not been finished, the an­

swer has not been finished. 
The Court: No, but he got far enough to cover 

some of the ground that was in that chart that you 
questioned him about before, and enough to indicate 
to me that if ( 2434) the answer is allowed to 
stand and the question were improper it would be a 
subversion of my prior ruling. 
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Q. Mr. Wilkerson, where did you get the voting data 
that you used in connection with the study you are testify­
ing about now~ A. The New York City Board of Elections. 

Q. Now by using that data did you determine in your 
study of the six panels that you are discussing, did you de­
termine what the ratios were with respect to these Con­
gressional Districts and health areas in terms of the rela­
tionship to the actual vote~ A. I did. 

Q. What did you find~ 

Mr. McGohey: I object. 
The Court: This is the ratio between voting 

population and-what is the other? 
Mr. Gladstein: Jurors-
The Court: Yes, Mr. McGohey' 
Mr. McGohey: I have objected to it, your Honor. 
Mr. Gladstein: We are not talking about rents 

now. 
The Court : I do not quite understand the ground 

of your objection, Mr. McGohey. 
Mr. McGohey: It is irrelevant, your Honor. The 

health areas-
The Court: Well, there isn't anything about 

health area in this question now. 
(2435) ~1:r. McGohey: I assume there is. I so 

understood it. 
The Court: I thought he left that out after I 

had sustained your objection, and he is now asking 
merely for the ratio between the voting population 
and the jurors. 

Mr. Gladstein: In terms of­
Mr. M-cGohey: Of a given area. 
Mr. Gladstein: In terms of where they live in 

particular Congressional Districts, that is true in 
terms of a health area-

The Court: Ah. Well, you slipped in that little 
part at the end, "in terms of a health area." That 
makes all the difference. Then I guess Mr. McGohey 
heard better than I did. 

I will sustain the objection. 
Mr. -Gladstein: Well now, I am not asking the 

witness, if your Honor understands, anything about 
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the character of the health area, the rent or the oc­
cupational distribution. I am not asking that now at 
all. 

The Court: Well, you are not going to get any-
thing in about the health area either. 

Mr. Sacher: Your Honor is treating it as if it 
was called an unhealthy area instead of a health 
area. 

The Court : No, I don't think there is anything 
unhealthy about it. But it seems to me that an ele­
ment ( 2436) of confusion is being put in here that 
I have ruled out, and I am going to continue to rule 
it out. So if you want to take a telephone book, 
which I thought is what you were starting to do, 
that is all right. If you want to go to the voting 
lists that is all right. But as to the health areas, 
that is not all right. 

Mr. Gladstein: I will prepare an offer of proof in 
writing concerning this as well and we will have it 
marked as an exhibit. 

The Court: Yes, and give it an exhibit number 
~so that the record will show what you contend­

Mr. ·Gladstein: And before passing on, I just 
want to-

The Court: But as to what I have ruled out, the 
record taken today is going to decide what I ruled 
out, not what you put in some time later. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, I do not understand that, 
your Honor. 

The Court: You see, when you say you will put 
an offer of proof in later I do not know what is 
going to be in that offer of proof. You may put a 
whole lot of things that I never intended to rule on 
at all. I have ruled. The ruling is, in my judgment, 
on the record now perfectly clear. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, I will prepare the (2437) 
offer so that your Honor sees it and can pass on it, 
of COU:fJSe. 

The Court : All right. 
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Q. Do you want this phone book before you in con­
nection with your testimony on it, Mr. Wilkerson~ A. N_o. 

Q. All right. Now, what is the nature of that address 
telephone book~ 

(Court hands book to witness.) 

The Witness: I thank you. 

A. Well, briefly, it lists .by streets and street addresses the 
residences and places of business and otherwise where 
there are phones in New York. This is a lVIanhattan Direc­
tory and indicates the name in which the phone is regis­
tered and the phone number. Unlike-

The Court: Now, you have told us all about that 
two or three days ago. I lmow just what the exhibit 
is. So go ahead now and bring out what you want 
to prove, Mr. Gladstein. 

Q. Now, did you make a study of any panels-

Mr. Gladstein: Oh, I offer that book in evidence. 
The Court: It is in evidence. 
Mr. Gladstein: I think it is just marked for iden­

tification. 
( 2438) The Witness : For identification. 
The Court : Let us see. 21. Yes, that is right. 

Very well. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 21 for identifi­
cation received in evidence.) 

Q. Now, did you make a study of any of the jury panels 
in relation to data contained in that directory? A. Yes. 

Q. What was the nature of that study1 A. We made an 
analysis of the relationship between the number of jurors 
on six panels and the telephone listings in 12 sample health 
areas of Manhattan. The procedures we followed and the 
data produced by the analysis we have prepared in certain 
tables that you n1ay have before you-Table H-3, and two 
pages of technical notes appended to that table-indicating 
with precision the methods, the sampling and what-have-
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you. I don't think the Court should be burdened with the 
reading of that, but it is available. 

Q. Now do those tabulations and notes accurately rep­
resent and present the facts concerning this study and 
the manner in which it was made~ A. They do. 

Q. Are the figures shown on it accurate and correctly 
portray what they purport to~ A. They do. 

Mr. Gladstein: I would like to have this (2439) 
marked for identification. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 94 for 
identification.) 

The Witness: Was that Table H-3, Mr. Glad-
stein~ 

Mr. Gladstein: With two pages of notes. 
The Witness: That is right. 
Mr. McGohey: May I look at it~ 
Mr. Gladstein: Yes (handing Exhibit 94 for 

identification). 

Q·. Now I show you 94 for identification. Will you ex­
plain to the Court what that is~ A. This table-

Mr. McGohey: Well, pardon me. Your Honor, 
if the explanation is-

Q. Well, is it self-explanatory, Mr. Wilkerson, or does 
it require any additional explanation~ A. Well, it depends 
on who is reading it. 

Q. You had better explain to the Court. 

The Court : I think you go to the head of the 
class for that one. 

Mr. McGohey: Your Honor, if the explanation 
requires detailing all the information and giving all 
the testimony that is in the record, I object to that 
being done until I-

The Court: I gather, having heard that it 
(2440) relates to the 12 health areas, that you de­
sire to indicate to me that you are going to object? 
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Mr. McGohey: That is exactly the point I am 
coming to, your Honor. As far as I can see from 
that exhibit, it is more detailed material which I 
deem to be irrelevant relating to those 12 health 
areas as to which I understand the ruling is there 
is to be no more evidence. 

The Court: I .sustain the objection. 

Q. Is that Exhibit 94 ~ A. 9'4 for identification. 
Q. All right. Now, does 94 for identification fairly, 

honestly and accurately present the facts and figures con­
tained within it~ A. It does. 

Q. Is that exhibit a true reflection of the facts which 
that exhibit purports to reflect~ A. It is. 

Mr. Gladstein: I offer it in evidence. 
Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court : .Sustained. 
Mr. Gladstein: May I ask the witness a ques­

tion? 
The Court: Yes. 

(Mr. Gladstein approaches witness .stand and 
confers with witness.) 

Mr. Gladstein: Before passing to another sub­
ject I would like to put in something supplementary 
to one of the maps in evidence: 

Q. Mr. Wilkerson, you will recall that the January 17, 
(2441) 1949 map contains black pins and red pins, is that 
right1 A. That is right. 

Q. And as your testimony has already shown, one type 
of pin refers to one of the January 17 lists and the other 
refers to a panel subsequently called, but called to serve 
for the same day~ A. That is correct. 

Q. Now, did you make a tabulation counting the pins 
that appear on that map and ,geparating-making a separa­
tion between the jurors found on the first listing and those 
found on the second? .A. I did make-

Mr. McGohey: Your Honor, could we have that 
map identified by an exhibit number¥ 

LoneDissent.org



1022 

Doxey A. Wilkerson-for Defendants on Challenge­
Recalled-Direct 

The Court: Well, I have before me a copy of 
Exhibit 65, and it does not appear on that whether 
it is the first listing of January 17, 1949 or the sec­
ond, or both. 

The Witness: If the date is correct it is both. 
The Court : Do you recall, Mr. Wilkerson~ 
The Witness: If you are talking about the same 

map that I have in mind it is both. 
The Court: Isn't that the one you are now talk­

ing about~ 
The Witness: This is the one, and in the origi­

nal (2442) exhibit, as is not clear, of course, in 
the photostat, there were red pins and black pins. 

The Court: That is right. So I think it is all 
clear now, Mr. Mc:Gohey. This Exhibit 65 includeS' 
both drawings for January 17, 1949, and, of course, 
on the photostat the color of the pins is not appar­
ent, and that is why the testimony is being elicited 
relative to that point, which I think is perfectly 
proper. 

Mr. Gladstein: That is No. 65 in evidenae, for 
the record. 

The Court: That is right. 

Q. Now, did you make a tabulation so as to show the 
separation between black and red pins~ A. I did. 

Q. Do you have a copy of it with you~ A. I have. 
Q. All right, will you state for the record what that 

tabulation demonstrates~ A. The thing that we were con­
cerned with ascertaining here was whether or not there 
was any significant difference in the geographical distribu­
tion of jurors drawn on the second January 17th panel 
from that which characterized the geographical distribu­
tion of jurors on the first January 17th panel. And the 
tabulation I have before me indicates in general that even 
though there was at least one, possibly two or more, jury 
panel drawings between the drawings of (2443) the 
the January 17th first list and the January 17th second 
list, that the geographical distribution of the jurors on the 
second January 17th listing followed the pattern of concen­
tration precisely observed with reference to the first 1isting 
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quite some time previ?us~y. I have considerable .informa­
tion here, Mr. Gladstein, If you want me to read 1t, on the 
several Congressional Districts and the sub-areas of those 
districts comparing these two listings for one day but ' . drawn at different times. 

The Court: Have you got the dates of the two 
listings~ 

The Witness: They are both January 17. 
The Court : Yes, but you said a little while ago 

that there was quite an interval between the time one 
was drawn and the other, and that in the meantime 
there had been a lot of other drawings-

Mr. Sacher: As to January 17, your Honor, the 
second drawing was on January 7. I think the first 
was in November. 

1\fr. Gladstein: The exhibit itself for identifica­
tion will show, Judge, because each of the panels 
indicates when it was drawn. So if the clerk will let 
me have-

~1r. Gordon: It is November 17 and January 7. 
Mr. Gladstein: Is it~ All right, November 17, 

(2444) January 7. 
The Court: All right, I have got it down, that is 

:fine. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Will you continue, Mr. Wilkerson? A. Yes. The 
analysis reveals the following, that in the 26th Congres­
sional District of the Bron:x-

Mr. McGohey: I beg your pardon, your Honor. 
Apparently the witness is reading from an exhibit 
or some kind of a paper. I would like to see what 
it is. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, I am asking him to give 
data. He said he has tabulated it, and we can use 
it in connection with his testimony, surely. It is 
statistical data. 

The Court: The request is merely that Mr. Mc­
Gohey take a look at it, and I see no objection to it. 
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Mr. McGohey: So I can understand it. 
Mr. Gladstein: I will never refuse to let Mr. Mc­

Gohey look at any document. Go ahead. 
Mr. McGohey: I would just like to have an 

opportunity to look at it as the case goes along. 
The Court: Yes, you may look at it and study 

it a moment or two, and Mr. Gladstein will pause 
until you have had a chance to look at it. 

Mr. McGohey: All right. (Examining.) 

( 2445) Q. All right, will you eontinue, Mr. Wilkerson i 
A. Did you ask me to continue~ 

Q. Please. A. In the 26th Congressional District in the 
Bronx there were 36 jurors on list 1 for January 17, 1949, 
and 42 jurors on list 2. Within the 26th District 21 of the 
36 in that entire large district, if you recall the map, the 
Congressional District area there, 21 of the 36 in the 26th 
Congressional District came from Parkchester area of that 
Congressional District. And in the second listing 27 of the 
42 in the 26th Congressional District came from Parkches­
ter; or, in other words, the Parkchester area accounted for 
58 per cent of all the 26th Congressional District jurors 
found on the first listing for January 17 and 64 per cent 
of all those found on the second listing for January 17. 

Q. And what percentage of all of the jurors on each of 
these respective panels was represented by jurors who 
lived in the 26th District~ A. The jurors on the first 
listing from the 26th District represented 15.2 per cent of 
all the jurors on the panel. 

By the way, when I refer to all jurors on the panel, 
bear in mind that we are here making an alaysis of Bronx 
and Manhattan jurors, and ''all'' refers to jurors in Bronx 
and Manhattan. 

(2446) Q. A.t this point? A. Yes. These are the Con­
gressional Districts in these two boroughs. 

Q. Will you 'continue? A. For the second listing the 
26th CD jurors comprised 20.1 per cent of the total for 
Bronx and Manhattan. To pick out-would you have me 
read these for each Congressional District~ 

Q. I wish you would do so so the record will be clear. 
A. All right. 
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~1r. McGohey: If your Honor please, I suggest 
if the exhib~t is going to be offered probably there 
is not going to be no objection to it, and we could 
save the time of reading it.. 

~1r. Gladstein: We could do that. 
Will you let me have that~ We will mark it 

for identification and offer it at this point,-with 
this question, Mr. Wilkerson: 

Q. Are the figures and the data shown on this tabulation 
accurate~ A. They are. 

Q. And they truly portray what they are intended to 
portray, namely, a breakdown of the geographical loca­
tion of jurors on those two listings that I mentioned T 
A. That is correct. 

(2448) 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 95 for 
identification.) 

(2447) Mr. Gladstein: I will offer 95 for iden­
tification in evidence, your Honor. 

~fr. l\fcGohey: No objection. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 95 for identifi­
cation received in evidence.) 

Mr. Gladstein : There are a number of things 
about this exhibit that the witness ought to call 
attention to and for the record should be testified 
to, but I observe it is a moment or two before quit­
ting time, so perhaps it. would be well to recess nowT 

The Court: We will go on with that at 2.30. 

(Recess to 2.30 p.m.) 

AFTERNOON SESSION 

The Court: Now something was said this morn­
ing, rather parenthetically it is true, about briefs. 
Now, it has been my custom since I have been on 
this court, to try my best to keep current; it has 
been one of my most serious problems because I 
feel if I ever get behind in my work I would never 
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catch up. And so in many, if not most of my cases, 
I have indicated to counsel that if they have briefs 
or memoranda or authorities the time to give them 
to me is during the trial, because in most of my 
cases I have decided them immediately upon the 
close of the taking of testimony. I know that that 
is not always done by everybody, and sometimes 
I can't do it myself, but I try very hard to do that 
in all of my cases in order to keep up to date and 
current with my work. 

So I would not want anything said by counsel 
and not commented upon by me to leave them with 
the impression when this challenge proceeding is 
terminated that there is going to be some period 
of time fixed for briefs, because there is not. I 
have been following the proofs, as I think must 
have been evident to every one, with the utmost 
care, and that is the way I do with all my cases. 

So that if anybody has some argumentative 
material (2449) or briefs or authorities, I wel­
come it and I am very glad to receive it at any time 
during the taking of the testimony, and I shall study 
it with care. But I would not want anyone to think 
that there was going to be some period left after 
the taking of testimony was concluded for putting 
in briefs and making argument and things of that 
kind. 

Mr. Sacher: May I address you briefly on that, 
your Honor7 

The Court : Yes. 
Mr. Sacher: I think I made that reference this 

morning to the question of briefs. And I should like 
to say that the exclusion of samples which we have 
referred to and the reflection upon samples as being 
misleading-and I can conjure up no reason for the 
characterization of them as being misleading, except 
perhaps that they are not being regarded by either 
your Honor or the Government as constituting a 
representative sampling-in view of that situation 
it certainly is necessary for the .assistance of the 
Court for us to make an analysis of that portion, 
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if not all, of the relevant data which will .enable us 
to arrive at a conclusion or present material for 
your Honor to arrive at a conclusion on the basis 
of the evidence in its entirety. 

(2450) Now we regard the situation in regard 
to the health areas as being so significant, whether 
taken in adequate sample part or in its entirety, 
that we will need the time to prepare that data for 
your Honor. 

Now I lay that before the Court at the present 
time because I think your Honor is certainly familiar 
enough with the arithmetical and statistical aspects 
of this to appreciate that time will be necessary . 
.And I made reference to briefs this morning only 
because I think that that material that I referred 
to will have to be analyzed and presented to your 
Honor in some form, whether it be in the form of 
a brief or whether it be in tabular form or some 
form which will enable your Honor to grasp, to 
isolate, the material on which we rely. 

The Court: Well, you know, I remember when 
I tried my first patent case I suffered a good deal 
during the trial and I guess the lawyers suffered 
even more. But I told them, just as I have been 
telling you, that they had better get busy giving 
me the authorities and the argument as we went 
along because when the last of the two lawyers 
sat down I was going to decide the case. And they 
said, "Oh, no, Judge, you won't do that, no one 
ever does that. We always get three or four months 
to put briefs in and to get the minutes written out, 
and so on.'' 

(2451) "Well," I said, "maybe you did that 
in other cases, but in this case I am going to decide 
it when the last of you two lawyers sits down at 
the close of the case, if I possibly can, and I just 
want to let you know that.'' And that is precisely 
what I did. 

And that I think is precisely what I am going 
to do in this case, if I feel that I understand it, 
and I think as I go along I have understood it pretty 
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well so far. And all I am .saying is, whatever you 
want to give me, give me as we go along and don't 
get the impression that any amount of discussion 
or argument is going to prevail upon me to put off 
until some later day the making of the decision 
when you get the briefs. 

I have a very definite thought that one of the 
bad things about the law is this continual putting 
of things off and waiting for the minutes to be 
written out .and waiting for the briefs to be put in, 
and extensions of time, and the thing goes on and 
on and on. 

Now, the way to avoid that is to pay the closest 
attention as the evidence is going in, and that I do. 
It is very trying sometimes, it is very fatiguing for 
me to sit up nights reading cases and memoranda 
.a.nd all that, but I would rather do that than. get 
behind in my work and then just play around with 
the cases and never get them decided. 

( 2452) So you will please be guided by what 
I have said. 

Mr. Sacher: There is only one question that 
I would like to see if your Honor will be good 
enough to help me on, and it is this: The material 
I am talking about is material whi~h does not lie 
within the power or the province of the lawyers 
to expedite. I have in mind not material whieh is 
in its basic sense brief material, as it is material 
which will spell out the contents of the various 
~ensus reports that have been presented in evidence 
in relation to the composition of the various juries. 

Now, what we will need will be the time to lay 
that before your Honor. It is not a question of 
holding up your decision; it is a question, rather, 
of preparing the material and laying it before the 
Court. 

If we could be assisted in knowing, for instance, 
what would be regarded as an adequate sampling, 
we might be able to handle the matter. In other 
words, spe~ifically, what I have in mind is, we 
selected these various jury panels, these 28 or 30 

LoneDissent.org



1029 

Colloq1lY of Court and Co1tnsel 

or 31 that have now been submitted in evidence, on 
the basis, I think it was made clear, and we started 
out in .January-

The Court : 31. 
Mr. Sacher: There were 31. I think your Honor 

is right. We took two monthly periods in each suc­
cessive (2453) year and successively monthly 
periods, figuring that that, as Mr. Wilkerson ex­
plained, would give the Court and all parties a 
view of the distribution of jurors over all seasons 
of the year, so that we thought we were establishing 
an adequate sampling. 

Now, if we could have agreement on the propo­
sition that that constitutes an adequate sampling 
for all the panels in the last ten years, then our 
work would be, so to speak, cut out for us, and we 
could limit the stuff-that' is, the analysis and the 
compilation-to those 31 panels -and lay it before 
the Court. 

On the other hand, if the question remains open 
as to whether that sampling is either adequate, 
representative or typical, and we have to resort to 
analysis of larger numbers of these panels, then I 
think we will be under the necessity of appealing 
to your Honor for time within which to submit such 
analyses to you. 

The Court: This statistical data has gone on 
and on and on here, and I have been gradually 
wondering what I was ultimately going to do about 
it if it keeps on much longer. The pattern of it was 
apparent to me the first day or so, and the way you 
were proceeding has seemed to me to be an endeavor 
to bypass the authorities who administer the jury 
system and who in all other cases have been the 
source of the testimony produced (2454) by those 
who cha1lenged the system. 

Now, I am beginning to feel if this statistical 
matter is to go on and on and on indefinitely with­
out end, I suppose the time will come when I have 
to do something about it. But I am not disposed to 
try to advise counsel as to what they should do, 
and I think we had better let the matter rest as it is. 
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Mr. Sacher: I would just like to make one ob­
.servation, if I may, your Honor. I think what is 
being overlooked with regard to this challenge is 
that we are charging the existence of a conspiracy 
in this case in the matter and manner of selection 
of jurors, and I know that I offer nothing more 
than a legal platitude when I say that conspiracies 
are not usually proved by calling the conspirators 
to the stand to testify. And so what we have done 
is something that is everyday practice for prose­
cutors to do. -vr e are trying, in the first instance, 
to establish by circumstantial evidence the existence 
of the conspiracy and the nature of the conspirators. 
And it may be that when that foundation has been 
adequately laid and the conspirators are hemmed 
in by a wall of unanswerable evidence, maybe then 
it may be good practice to call some of them to the 
stand to face the music in the light of that evidence. 

(2455) The Court: Yes, and it may be I will sit 
around and listen to that kind of talk indefinitely 
and it may be I won't. 

Mr. Sacher: Well, your Honor, all I can say 
is that we have-well, I was going to say "de­
ferred,'' and I am sure your Honor would use a 
stronger word with regard to it-but we have de­
ferred to the Court's request to direct ourselve.s to 
various types of proof, and we have tried as well as 
we could to comply with those directions of the 
Court. 

The Court: That is all right. 
Mr. Sacher: But what I am trying to point out 

is that in the last analysis we are confronted with a 
problem which I think your Honor faced in the 
course of his practice of dealing with the order of 
proof in such manner as not to endanger the estab­
lishment of the proposition to which we are dedicat­
ing ourselves. And so here all I am saying is that 
we want the time, not to be consumed in the court­
room, just the time to deal with the material that 
your Honor will regard as adequate. 

Now, if the Court or the prosecution should say 
that the 31 panels constitute an adequate sampling 
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on which to proceed with the consideration of the 
case, then I think that will be very helpful and 
might save a considerable amount of time and dis­
cussion. 

(245,6) The Court: Well, you know, it sounds 
as though you were in effect saying to me, ''Now, 
Judge, we charge Judge Knox and all the other 
Judges of the Southern District with conspiracy and 
corruption, and we wish your Honor would tell USI 
just what is the best way for us to go about proving 
that. We would appreciate it." 

Mr. Sacher : I don't think, your Honor-
The Court: It seems as though that is what you 

were asking me. 
Mr. Sacher: I don't think the vanity of any 

lawyer at this defense table would permit him to put 
the inquiry just that way, your Honor, and we have, 
if not too high, at least not too low, an opinion of 
ourselves. All we are saying is if you will only be 
good enough to let us alone we will prove it. 

The Court : Well, if I were to leave you alone 
goodness knows what you might do. 

Mr. Bacher: We are not asking for help; all we 
are asking is don't obstruct us. We will make prog­
ress if we are not obstructed. 

But, in any event, seriously, your Honor, I think 
what we are speaking about now, is not the question 
of how to prove this; all I am addressing myself to 
is a very simple question, and that is, does the Court 
regard (2457) 31 panels selected in the circum­
stances and for the purposes indicated, an adequate 
sampling of all of the panels over the 10-year period 
covered by the earliest, the intermediate, and the 
most recent of the 31 panels that we have selected' 

If your Honor says No, if you say 40 or 50 would 
be, or 70 or 80 selected from such months and such 
months, we 'will try to accommodate ourselves to it. 
But, after all, this is more than a mere game. We 
have got really important questions, important to 
the prosecution, important to the defense, important 
to all the people in our city and in our country under 
consideration in this case, and I think, therefore, 
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that it is .something which deserves serious consider­
ation from the point of view of what is an adequate 
sampling. I am not talking about what constitutes 
proof; I am just addressing myself to what will the 
Court and the Government consider an adequate 
.sample on which to argue out the case one way or 
the other, decide it one way or the other~ In other 
words, will it be .said that we are going to be sub­
mitting cumulative evidence if we were to submit 
further panels to the Court~ That is the question, 
really, I think, which is raised by the inquiry I am 
making. 

The Court: Now, you had better go ahead with 
the rest of your proof. 

(2458) Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor, could I 
make an observation based on what your Honor 
has just said~ 

Mr. McGohey: Pardon me just a moment. 
May we have the record clear that two of the de­

fendants, I think the defendant Dennis and the de­
fendant Potash, are absent this afternoon, but by 
agreement with counsel made before the recess¥ 

The Court: And it is agreeable to all of the de­
fendants that they be absent~ 

Mr. Crockett: Yes, and Mr. McCabe, your Honor, 
is also absent, and he asked me to make a notation 
of that fact in the record, and it is perfectly agree­
able to his clients and all the other defendants. 

The Court: Very well. 
Mr. Gladstein: Your Honor has said that you 

have been watching very closely the evidence as it 
has been introduced, and it is quite true that as 
each exhibit was offered either for identification or 
for introduction in evidence, your Honor did look 
at a number of these and satisfied yourself-

The Court: Well, I did more than just look at 
the numbers on the pages. 

Mr. Gladstein: -as to materiality. 
Now, I want to suggest respectfully that the num­

bers of the exhibits already in evidence, those that 
( 2459) have . been identified and not yet received, 
and others which will be brought before you in terms 
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of their total content are such that your Honor could 
not possibly absorb the evidentiary nature of all 
these exhibits and their impact on the question of 
your ultimate findings of fact, without a good deal 
of study. 

Now, one of the things-
The Court : Well, you know, you may be like a 

good many members of the public who think a Judge 
has a wonderful time. He comes in at 10:30, sits on 
the bench and goes off at 4:30, and everybody thinks 
that is all he does. Well, now, I get down here to 
the court house about half past eight most mornings 
and it is very seldom that I am out of here before 
half past six, and there is many an evening that I 
am working too, and I am not the only Judge who 
does that. So if you think the only attention I pay 
to these things is what little indication there is in the 
record of my comments based on exhibits, and so on, 
I think you are making a mistake. 

But we get into these arguments about every­
thing. You want to prove that when I say I fol­
lowed the evidence, that I did not follow the evi­
dence; that I just look at the numbers of the exhibits 
and that I really don't know anything about it. Well, 
I suppose we can go on and argue those things, but 
I think it is really futile (2460) to do so. 

~1r. Gladstein: I was merely indicating-I am 
not suggesting that you work short hours or long 
hours, your Honor-

The Court : You were just telling me that when 
I said I knew about the things that I really did not, 
and that you as a lawyer can tell there are so many 
pages and so many statistics, and that I could not 
:possibly have understood it in these three weeks that 
we have been on trial. Well, that is your opinion, 
and I suppose it is entitled to some weight. 

Mr. Gladstein: All your Honor has said is that 
you work long hours, and I suggest that establishes 
the need for a trade union of Judges, perhaps, to 
get better working hours. 

The Court : I might think of joining one. 
Mr. Gladstein: But my point is that neverthe­

less, your Honor, there is material already in the 
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record which is so voluminous and which must be 
read and understood by anyone who prepares to 
make findings of fact, that I just want to suggest 
the necessity of having this kind of matter ab­
·Stracted, briefed, and the highlights thereof called to 
the attention of the Court. 

And, as a matter of fact, it was with that very 
thought in mind, if the Court please, that we did 
such (2461) things as present what, according to 
scientists, statisticians, are regarded as very ade­
quate and scientific methods of sampling. 

When these 28 panels originally, now 31, were ob­
tained and subjected to study, that was done without 
knowing beforehand what might be shown, and it did 
not make any difference to us whether there was a 
variation of some portion of one per cent between 
one panel or another. That wasn't the question. The 
question was whether or not there existed over a 
period of nearly ten years a pattern, a system, 
something that the human brain and the naked eye 
could see and recognize immediately. 

Now, although everybody, one would think, who 
did not prejudge the matter here-

The Court : Well I deny the motion to disqualify 
me. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, you were anticipating. I 
wasn't going to make one. 

The Court: I am very quick to catch on, and I 
thought when you said ''anybody who does not pre­
judge,'' it was just another way of telling me again 
what you have told me so many times, and your col­
leagues have told me so many times: that I have 
prejudged it all; that I am biased and prejudiced and 
unfit to sit here. Now, I am (2462) familiar with 
that, and if you think you are going to get me ex­
cited saying that over again, you are making a big 
mistake. 

Mr. ·Gladstein: I wasn't going to say it over 
again, and if I were it would not be for the purpose 
of getting you ex.cited. It is true I have a definite 
mind on the question of whether legally you are dis­
qualified, whether you are biased, but I wasn't going 
to express it. 
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The Court : They went all the way up to the 
United States Supreme Court with it, and I suppose 
if there was any further you could go, you would do 
that. 

Mr. Gladstein: They didn't pass on your Honor's 
bias. They did not ,say you were unbiased-

The Court: They denied the application for 
certiorari. 

Mr. Gladstein: Yes, they refused to hear the 
question of whether or not you were biased, that is 
true, but that does not mean, your Honor, that they 
passed favorably on the contention of the Court. It 
does not mean, of course, that they held that you 
were biased, but neither does it mean that they held 
you were unbiased. 

The Court : Well, you don't really need to 
keep rubbing it in and telling me every day that I 
am ( 2463) prejudiced, biased, corrupt, and all 
that sort of thing, because after a man has been 
called names a certain number of times they have no 
effect on him any more. 

Mr. Gladstein: Now, ·before the Court's inter­
ruption I was about to point out that what is im­
portant here is the question of your Honor's de­
terminations upon the objections Mr. McGohey has 
raised, and sometimes even without him suggesting 
it-

The Court: Yes, maybe I have a right to make 
a comment from the bench once in a while. It seems 
probably wrong to you and your colleagues, but it 
is commonly done, and I have no intention whatever 
of refraining. 

Mr. Gladstein: I wasn't referring to your 
Honor's comments, because they are always wel­
come. I was referring to the rulings that you make 
adverse to the defendants even before the United 
States Attorney opens his mouth to make an objec­
tion. That has happened. 

The Court: That is sometimes done too. 
Mr. Gladstein: Well, it has been done, and pretty 

consistently in this case, I will say that. 
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Now, my point is this : Take, for example, the ex­
hibit that your Honor rejected today, would not per­
mit me to put into evidence. That exhibit, for all 
your Honor knows, for all11r. McGohey knows, for 
all that (2464) I know, would be accepted by 
statisticians or economists, or scientists who deal 
with these matters as an absolutely true representa­
tion of what the rest of the community looks like in 
terms of the issues that that presents, in terms of 
the arguments that are voiced by that exhibit with­
out any embellishment or oratory from anybody. But 
what has your Honor done~ 
· The Court: Ruled it out. I have ruled it out. 

Mr. Gladstein: You have ruled it out exactly. 
Now, the only real basis on which objection could 

be made to it is not that it is inadmissible as a mat­
ter of law but would go to the question of the weight 
to attach to the exhibit. If, in other words, an ade­
quate sampling required more than twelve health 
areas or more than six jury panels, or more than is 
presented there, it is just a question of covering 
enough of the field so that in terms of human pos.si­
bilities the Court can have what is probative evi­
dence. And yet your ruling has been such as to indi­
cate that even if we had taken Manhattan and Bronx 
and Westchester and all of the 31 jury panels, and 
had shown all this data, the character of your ruling 
has been such as to indicate that you would not even 
allow that. 

Now, does that mean that the Court presents us· 
with the impossible problem which we can't pos­
sibly overcome ( 2465) of providing evidence as to 
every single jury panel in the last ten years~ Be­
cause the Supreme Court has indicated that we have 
not only a right but a duty in establishing the per­
sistence of a pattern to go back a number of years 
and show it, and show what has been taking place. 

Now, your Honor's ruling indicates that the evi­
dence we are offering simply is not going to be re­
ceived upon the theory that this is merely a sample, 
and your Honor has said misleading, although noth­
ing warrants that kind of characterization. So for 
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that reason it is going to be necessary for us in some 
manner to call your Honor's attention to the signifi­
cance, to the legal effect and the inferences that 
strongly impel themselves to be derived from that 
kind of exhibit. 

There is another thing your Honor said that I 
want to answer. 

The . Court: Maybe over next week end you can 
get up a little brief on that containing the argumen­
tative matter and give it to me Monday morning. Not 
that I say you must do that. You may do it or not 
to do it as you choose. I have only indicated that if 
someone thinks that at the close of the evidence I am 
going to give a period of time for briefs, to that I say 
no, (2466) I am not going to do that; and if you 
have anything to say by way of argument give it to 
me, as I ask lawyers in my other cases to give it to 
me, during the case. 

And I may say I have been doing that now for a 
year and a half or .so, it is not so long, but I never 
got into such arguments with lawyers as I am having 
here about complying with my request. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, I will ·be very happy to try 
to present the Court with a brief. I have been a 
little bit occupied these last few days. 

The Court : Yes. 
Mr. Gladstein: And it is not an easy task tore­

search the authorities and present them to you on 
the question of admissibility of this kind of data 
which is obtained by sampling methods. But if your 
Honor, if there is any possibility of having the effect 
of those authorities respected and obtaining a recon­
~sideration of the ruling that your Honor has taken, 
I will certainly do whatever I can to get that memo­
randum of law to the Court. 

The Court: I try to respect all authorities, those 
that are controlling and those that are persuasive. 
I try to do my duty as a Judge. I do not think it is 
very nice of you to put in that little insinuation, but 
I take it in good part. And so we will pass it. 

(2467) Mr. Gladstein: Very well. It isn't half 
of what I felt like saying, your Honor, as a result 
of what you said. 
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The Court : Well, I can well believe that. 
Mr. Gladstein: Does the Court want a copy of 

this exhibit~ You don't have one, I know. 
The Court: Yes. That is the one you had photo­

stated during the lunch period. 

DoxEY A. WILKERSON, resumed the stand. 

Mr. Gladstein (To the witness) : Do you want to 
give it to the Court, or the original1 

Mr. McGohey: Just so we have a clear copy. 
Mr. Gladstein: Can I look at yours, Mr. Mc-

Gohey~ 
The Witness: I think I have another one. 
Mr. Gladstein: Do you have another copy~ 
The Witness: Yes. 

Direct examination continued by Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now at the recess you were pointing out certain 
facts contained in this exhibit which is now-

Mr. Gladstein: Numbered what, sir~ You have 
that1 

The Clerk: 95. 
Mr. McGohey: 95. 
Mr. Gladstein: 95. Was it received in evidence~ 
(2468) Mr. McGohey: Yes. 
Mr. Gladstein: Thank you. 
The Witness: You didn't finish your question, 

did you, Mr. Gladstein~ 
Mr. Gladstein: The witness is making a calcula­

tion or a computation of some kind. 
The Court: That is all right. 
The Witness: No. Did you finish your ques­

tion1 
Mr. Gladstein: No. I thought you were making 

a calculation. 
The Court : He thought you were making a 

mathematical calculation there. 
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Mr. Gladstein: I was going to wait, Mr. Wilker­
son. 

The vVitness: Go right ahead. 

Q. Now would you be good enough to point out, using 
this Exhibit 99 as a point of reference, the data that you 
compiled, dealing particularly with those neighborhoods 
or areas that are shown on the maps that are in evidence 
and which you have called by certain names established 
in the record~ A. Yes. It should be pointed out that there 
are 233 jurors represented here on the first listing of 
January 17th and 209 for the second listing of January 
17th. The initial thing that should be observed concerning 
this (2469) distribution of these jurors is that in cer­
tains areas-let me illustrate: In the 24th Congressional 
District in the Bronx, for example, that is-well, we have 
been discussing that area-

Mr. McGohey : Mr. Wilkerson, will you please 
keep your voice up a little 1 

The Court: I can't hear him and I am sitting 
right alongside of him, he whispers so much. 

Mr. Gladstein: I heard him, Judge, and I am 
a good deal further away from Mr. Wilkerson than 
you are and my hearing isn't as sharp as it used 
to be. 

The Court : Maybe I didn't speak truthfully 
when I said I did not hear him. 

l\1r. Gladstein: I did not suggest that. 
The Court: I meant to-
Mr. McGohey: Well, your Honor, I assure every­

body that I was speaking truthfully. I am having 
difficulty, and as I explained before that may be my 
fault, and not Mr. Wilkerson's. And I would ap­
preciate it if he would speak a little louder. 

Mr. Gladstein: Do that, will you, Mr. Wilker-
son1 

The Witness: Surely. 
Mr. l\1:cGohey: Thank you. 
The Witness: I get absorbed in what I am in­

terested and sometimes forget that-
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(2470) Mr. McGohey: I realize that. 
The Witness: And I appreciate these remarks, 

and I will be very glad to try to keep my voice up. 
Mr. McGohey: Thank you. 

A. (Continuing) In the 24th Congressional District of the 
Bronx out of 78 jurors in the first listing two were chosen. 
Out of 92 on the second listing none were chosen. 

The Court: I don't quite follow that. I see 
Congressional District 24 in the lefthand column and 
I see that 2 and 0. But where do you get the 78 
from~ 

The Witness: At the bottom. 
The Court: That is the total number of jurors~ 
The Witness: On the first listing, at the bottom 

of the second column. 
The Court: That is out of a total number of 

jurors~ 
The Witness: Oh, pardon me. Did I say 78? 
The Court: You did say 78. 
The Witness: I am sorry. Yes, it is much worse 

than that. Of 233-
The Court: Well, strike that out. Just give us 

the figure.s without these comments, if you will. 

Q. When you say ''chosen'' you mean these are the 
people who were chosen by the clerk and put on the jury 
list? (2471) A. Yes. And my error, I was in error when 
I referred to 78. I was looking at the wrong column. The 
fact is that out of 233 jurors in the first listing two came 
from the 24th Congressional District in the Bronx, and 
out of 209 in the second listing in Manhattan and Bronx 
none came from the ~4th Congressional district. · 

To curtail the time involved, let me deal in percent­
ages hereafter with several other C.D. 's. In 1\fanhattan 
two-

Mr. McGohey: Could I interrupt for just a min­
ute' I am a bit confused by a remark that Mr. 
Wilkerson made. He talked about those who served. 
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Do I understand it that in this table, Defendants' 
Challenge Exhiit 95, you are talking about persons 
who appear on the panels~ 

The Witness: This is what I am talking about 
here and in all cases. 

Mr. McGohey: Yes. Well, you say "served." 
You don't mean that they actually served as jurors 
in the box, do you~ 

The Witness: I have no information on that. 
In that respect-

Mr. McGohey: That answers my question. 
The Court: When you said ''served'' you did 

not mean served, because you don't know whether 
they served ( 24 72) or not 1 

The Witness: The technical meaning of 
"served" I don't know. What I do mean is jurors 
listed for that panel. 

The Court: That is right. It is better to say 
so. 

1\fr. Gladstein: I want to point out for the 
record, your Honor, that I don't think you are cor­
rect in what you said to Mr. vVilkerson. 

In lawyer's parlance a juror serves perhaps only 
when he sits in the jury box, but in legal contem­
plation a citizen serves when he is called by the clerk 
as a juror on a panel and he comes down here and 
waits in the juryroom to see whether or not he gets 
selected. And each of those jurors who are called 
are called to serve as potential jurors for a period 
of approximately two weeks. 

The Court: They are called to serve, and I sup­
pose in one sense we can say they served, but if we 
use the word in one sense at one time in the proceed­
ings and in another sense at another time we only 
have more confusion. And I take it all the witness 
desires to say as a fact is that these statistics come 
from lists of persons called to serve, that is, lists 
of persons put down on the panel. 

Mr. Gladstein: .Exactly. And that is all he has 
ever said. 
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(2473) The Court: Why not leave it there and 
have him go on~ 

Mr. Gladstein: All right. 

A. (Continuing) Among 233 persons called to serve on 
juries in the first listing of January 17th, less than one per 
cent resided in Harlem's 22nd Congressional District. 
And out of 209 on the second listing for this panel, none 
resided in Harlem's 22nd District. 

Mr. McGohey: May I interrupt with another 
question at this point, please, your Honor. 

Is it contended that the total number of jurors 
on the panel for January 17th was 233~ Is that 
what that figure purports to represent~ 

Mr. Gladstein: That is Bronx and :Manhattan. 
The Witness: I made that clear, I think, that 

it is Bronx and Manhattan jurors. 
Mr. McGohey: Oh, just the Bronx and Manhat­

tan jurors on that panel. Thank you. I am sorry. 
Mr. Gladstein: It says so right at the top, Mr. 

McGohey. 
The Court: Yes, it does. 

A. (Continuing) The 19th Congressional District which 
we have been referring to as Lower East Side, had four 
of the 233 jurors in the first listing, and five of the 209 
in the second listing. The respective percentages (2474) 
for the 19th Congressional District for those two listings 
are 1.7 per cent and 2.4 cent. 

The 18th Congressional District, Mr. Marcantonio's 
district, had five jurors out of the 233 on the first listing, 
and eight out of the 209 on the second listing. The per­
centage of the first listing of jurors who came from the 
18th C.D. then was 2.1 per cent, and in the second listing 
3.8 per cent. 

I have read here just a few samples. I want now to 
read one more which I think would enable us to wind up 
this particular discussion. The 17th Congressional Dis­
trict-

Q. We have called it the Silk Stockinged District, Mr. 
Wilkerson. 
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Mr. McGohey: I move to strike that, your 
Honor. 

Mr. Gladstein: I say we have called it that. 
It has been called that. 

The Court: That is a parenthetical remark by 
Mr. Gladstein. 

Mr. Gladstein : That is all. 
The Court : Well, then, I think we can disregard 

it. 
Mr. Gladstein: It is your district, Judge. I 

just. wanted to have you await the evidence with that 
(24 75) understanding. 

The Court: I think I know what you are talk­
ing about without your bringing those things in. 
But go ahead. 

A. (Continuing) Out of the 233 persons called to serve 
on the first listing for January 17th, 78 of them or 33.5 
per cent, one-third of them, came from this one Congress­
ional District, the 17th. And of the 209 chosen to serve, as 
represented by the second listing, 92 came from the 17th 
Congressional District, or 44 per cent. 

In the course of our discussion of maps earlier we called 
attention to certain sub neighborhoods of Congressional 
Districts, which have already been defined in the record 
and so I won't define now other than to use their names; 
but there are several things shown here that are relevant 
to this comparison. The Parkchester area in the 26th 
Congressional District of the Bronx, for example, accounts 
for 58 and three-tenths per cent of all the 26 district jurors 
on the first list, and 64 per cent of all on the second list, 
fro1n the 26th C.D. 

The Court: Doesn't this all appear right on 
the face of the chart 1 

Mr. Gladstein: It is a matter of explanation, 
as I understood it. 

(2476) Q. Is it clear on the chart, Mr. Wilkerson¥ 
A. It has been my experience, Mr. Gladstein, that most 
people are not accustomed to reading charts and tables, 
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and that most people find it profitable if someone who is 
so accustomed interprets tabular materials. 

The Court: Well, I think, and I now rule that 
there has been enough explanation on this one. I 
can see it, and I am the one that is to be enlightened 
in it, and I think it is quite clear for the benefit 
of any Appellate Court that n1ay pass upon it. 

Q. Now Mr. Wilkerson, you will recall that on the maps 
that have been received in evidence and which span a 
period of time commencing some time in 1940 and being 
brought even beyond the date to today, some time into 
February of this year, there was drawn or there were 
drawn boundary lines indicative of or representing the 
present Congressional district boundaries in Manhattan 
and Bronx. You recall that, do you not~ A. I do. 

Q. Now, those boundary lines, I believe you said, were 
based upon the data set forth in the Legislative Manual 
and which is in evidence as-I forget the number-

Mr. Gladstein: Do you have it, Mr. Clerk~ 
The Clerk : Election Law~ 
Mr. Gladstein: It is called the Manual for 

(2477) the use of the legislative. 
Oh, here it is. 
The Court: It is Exhibit 18. 
Mr. Gladstein: Challenge Exhibit 18 for iden­

ti:fica ti on. 

Q. Now, as drawn, those maps correctly set forth the 
Congressional boundaries as they now exist; that is cor­
rect, isn't it~ A. That is correct. 

Q. And they were based upon Exhibit 18, is that right? 
A. Yes. 

Mr. Gladstein: I offer Exhibit 18 in evidence, 
your Honor. 

Mr. McGohey: Are you offering it all-the whole 
book~ 
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Mr. Gladstein: Well, all portions that are rele­
vant, although only a small portion is relevant. I 
think it has been marked with a paper clip. I sup­
pose the thing to do is to introduce the book, isn't 
it, your Honor? You can't very well introduce cer­
tain pages of the book. 

The Court: Oh, I think it is sufficient to have 
the book marked. Those parts that have nothing to 
do with the case will naturally be disregarded. 

(Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 18 for identi­
fication (2478) received in evidence.) 

Q. Now did you know at the time the maps were pre­
pared if the boundary lines of the Congressional Dis­
tricts within Manhattan and Bronx had been' changed at 
any time between the period 1940 and 1949 ~ A. Yes, I 
knew that they had. 

Q. And you were aware of the fact that there had been 
such a change; is that right? A. There was a reappor­
tionment I believe in 1942 which defined new boundaries 
that became effective, I am pretty sure it was the 1944 
Congressional elections. 

Q. ~Now did the changes in boundary lines resulting 
from the reapportionment that you have referred to, effect 
in any way the frame of reference that those boundary 
lines, as presently exist, set forth on those maps? A. No, 
if I understand your question. There were some very real 
changes made in boundary lines. The number in Man­
hattan was reduced, I remember, and the Bronx was re­
organized completely. The present boundaries of the 17th 
are considerably different from that area prior to that 
time. There were real changes in Harlem. There were 
changes of boundary lines. But I take it this is not your 
question. 

The question is, does the fact of such changes at all 
affect the use we have made of Congressional (2479) 
boundary lines in maps since and before that period? Is 
that-
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Q. Exactly. That is the. question. A. I believe we ex­
plained initially-! may be in error here-that we are 
utilizing Congressional boundary lines here not because 
they are political boundary lines and definite political en­
tries, with which we are not concerned, but rather be­
cause they are convenient and established boundary lines 
designating constant geographical areas with which we 
are concerned. And it is the constant geographical area 
to which we are making reference, rather than the fact 
that it happens also to coincide with the political area. 
If, for example, we had used Congressional district bound­
ary lines as they were in 1940 or 1941-

Q. For a map for that period~ A. For a map during 
that period-We would have no basis whatever for an 
adequate comparison of whether or not the concentration 
areas, as we have used that term, for jurors during that 
early period of the decade correspond to those areas now. 
Our purpose could be served only by having a constant 
geographic form of reference throughout this whole per­
iod, and the Congressional district boundary lines serve 
as the convenient de:finition of such areas. 

Q. Illustrate, if you will-take for example the case 
of Harlem-what the effect would have been upon 
(2480) your study if instead of having the Congressional 
District lines on all maps exactly as they are, you had 
changed them for the period covering the-referring to the 
maps prior to 1944. 

Mr. McGohey: Your Honor, I object to this as 
irrelevant. It is certainly speculative. 

The Court: Well, I will sustain the objection. 
And I suggest that you indicate what was the change 
in the boundary of that one district that became 
effective in 1944, and the inferences to be drawn can 
be drawn. 

Mr. Gladstein : Very well. I would like to ask 
the witness this question: 

Q. You mentioned that what you were concerned with 
in your study was to find out what had taken place in re-
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spect of residence of jurors in certain constant geographic 
areas. I think you used that expression. A. Yes. 

Q. Now, what were you referring to when you used 
that expression-constant geographic areas¥ .A.. Well, 
that meant a particular stretch of territory that remains 
the same as a basis for comparison throughout the per­
iod that we are talking about. Also associated with that, 
though, is the subsidiary meaning that, by and large, cer­
tain areas of the city have characteristics which differen­
tiate them from other areas of the city. 

(2481) Now, the Congressional District boundaries 
are a rather crude measure for defining areas of the city 
with common characteristics, but they do to an extent that 
it was-that we agree to have reflected in our analy·sis 
of the geographical distribution of jurors. .And it was 
necessary therefore to take a frame of reference which 
was constant throughout. 

Q. Your main concern was the particular character of 
the particular geographical subdivision; is that so¥ .A.. 
Yes. 

Q. Such as Harlem, Lower East Side, places of that 
kind 1 A. Yes. 

Q. Now, was any effort made to study the jury· lists 
in reference to available material as to voting figures and 
voting registration, political registration 1 A. Yes. 

Q. What was done in that connection, just in general? 
A. An analysis was made of the relationship between jur­
ors in these Congressional District areas we have been dis­
cussing, and the number of voters in those areas, and also 
in relationship to the number of registered voters for 
various political parties in those areas, and the vote cast 
for various political parties in these several Congress­
ional districts. 

Q. Now, what was the purpose of that study~ (2482) 
A. The geographical data, particularly the maps we pre­
sented, indicate merely the place the general geographical 
area from which jurors are drawn and places from which 
jurors are seldom drawn. It contributes towards under­
standing the composition of our jury list if we can know 
something further about those places. And one of the 
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things that helps to characterize these areas is the political 
composition of these areas as regards the registration of 
its voters and the vote cast. Also, the number of voters, 
which our analysis show has a pretty close relationship 
to the number of persons otherwise eligible for jury serv­
ice. 

Q. Well, now, what available official data was there 
to which you could go as sources for the materials needed 
to make this kind of a study~ A. The official jury lists 
were supplied by you, and I suspect you got them from 
the clerk. The number of voters for different years and 
for different congressional districts can be obtained and 
was obtained from the official records of the Board of Elec­
tions in 'New York City and Westchester County. 

Mr. McGohey: Pardon me for just a minute. 
Now, it is sufficiently clear I think, to me as to what 
this line of testimony is going to be, that it is now 
proposed (2483) to introduce through the wit­
ness some testimony as to the number of persons 
called for jury service who registered for one party 
or another and the number of jurors that were 
called for service who apparently did not register­
! mean enroll; I should not have used the word 
''registered' '-in one or the other of the parties 
and those who have not enrolled in one or the other 
parties. The evidence in the proceeding up to now 
is, from all the jurors that were called, that they 
were never asked by the clerk any questions as to 
their political affiliation. I object to any testimony 
along this line on the ground that it is irrelevent. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, now, if your Honor please, 
the mere fact that the clerk does not ask a person 
who has been called into the office by the clerk what 
that person's political party registration is, i:s 
wholly immaterial because-

The Court : Some districts you say they are prac­
tically all Democrats and other districts where they 
are practically all Republicans, so that you claim 
that from these districts you will indicate that by 
calling nobody from the Democratic districts they 
were excluding Democrats 1 
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Mr. Gladstein: Well, I say this: If New York 
(2484) City were a city where, say, three times as 
many of the voters were Democrats as Repub­
licans-let us just take that by way of example; 
let us say three-fourths, let us take a two-party 
system by way of supposition; that three-fourths of 
all the voters were Democrats and one-fourth only 
were Republicans. And if on the other hand you 
showed in your jury composition that the jurors 
called were just exactly the opposite, then I would 
say that the clerk who calls people in the first place 
is arranging something rather suspicious in and of 
itself. 

And if, in addition, you find not only that he has 
turned topsy-turvy the ordinary normal general 
ratios or proportions, or representative goupings 
that you would get if you just took a random selec­
tion when there are so many jurors; if in addition 
to political discrimination you also found that where­
as three-fourths of the people-this is, now, hypo­
thetical again, but by way of illustration-

The Court: It makes a good deal of difference, 
it seems to me. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, I want to illustrate my 
point. 

The Court: If you are in a place where every­
body in one district of the city is a Democrat, or 
practically everybody, it may be one thing; whereas 
if you get a (2485) percentage of 25 to 75 or 
20 to 80 it begins to get in that same era or ele­
ment of confusion that I have noticed before. 

Now what I am asking you is, are you going to 
contend here that there are districts where there 
are practically all Democrats, and that from that 
district nobody was taken~ 

Mr. Gladstein: My contention-! can't answer 
that, yes or no. 

The Court: Then I will sustain the objection. 
Mr. Gladstein: Now wait a minute, your Honor. 

I want to answer the question but I want to point 
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out that you have asked the kind of question to 
which neither a yes nor a no answer can be given. 

The Court : I did not say you had to say yes or 
no. That is a new one you have just thought up. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, I wanted to answer­
The Court : I had no idea of holding you down 

to that. Answer it any way you want. 
Mr. Gladstein: Well, no; but I started to say, 

I can't answer that yes or no and then you immedi­
ately said, as I think you said, that you were going 
to sustain Mr. JYicGohey. 

The Court: Yes. I thought you meant that you 
couldn't answer it or wouldn't. You know, there 
have (2486) been so many times here that you 
lawyers have refused to answer when I asked for 
enlightenment as to your contention or have given 
answers that are tantamount to refusals. And I 
thought you were doing it again. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, without allowing silence 
with respect to a portion of your Honor's statement 
to indicate acquiescence as to whether at any time 
previously I have refused or anybody of the defense 
counsel has refused to answer properly a question 
that the Court properly asked, I want to say that I 
had no intention of avoiding the question, and I 
want to answer it. 

The Court: I notice that little qualification 
''properly.'' That is like saying you did refuse 
plenty of times but you thought you were justified 
in refusing. Well, that may be so. But you refused, 
all right, plenty of times. 

Mr. Gladstein: I suppose the record will­
The Court: You and your colleagues. 
Now, here is another time. 
Which is it now1 Do you refuse, or are you going 

to answer it~ 
Mr. Gladstein: I am going to answer it. 
The Court : All right, then, let us hear it. 
(2487) Mr. Gladstein: I want to contend and 

I want to have the witness testify to facts that will 
show that just one of ,the byproducts of the method 
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of jury selection in operation in this court for nine 
or ten years has heen to produce on the jury panels 
an exaggerated over representation of a gross 
character of people whose political party registra­
tion happens to be the Republican Party and a 
distorted under-representation of those whose polit­
ical party registration or enrollment, as it is ealled 
here, is that of the American Labor Party . 

.And I want to say in that connection that when 
your Honor mentioned a moment ago that-well, you 
said if they were all Democrats or almost all Demo­
crats in the community and the jury composition 
was, well-it showed that there were just a few 
Democrats and most of them were Republicans, that 
would look pretty suspicious. And it certainly 
would. 

The Court: If I said that, I have no recollection 
of it. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, I thought you implied that, 
at least. 

The Court: I said it might be one thing if you 
had practically 100 per cent of one political party 
and it might be something different if the percen­
tages were as 75 to 25 or 80 to 20. And the ques­
tion that (2488) I asked you was, what was it you 
were contending here~ But you did not seem to 
answer that question. 

lVIr. Gladstein: Well, I thought I did by saying 
we want to show that the composition of jurors as 
revealed by a study of the lists shows that there 
are mainly members of the Republican Party, and 
that those voters, those who are registered to vote 
and do vote and are perfectly eligible for jury duty, 
who happen to be members of the American Labor 
Party just don't get chosen. Now, that is one of 
the facts to be taken· into account with the other 
elements of exclusion and discrimination here. 

I want to submit, and I believe the courts will 
sustain this, that when you have a city like New 
York, with the example that I was giving-you say 
75 per cent Democrats and 25 per cent Republicans, 
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and you turn up in your jury lists with something 
the reverse, that is pretty strong evidence of the 
fact that some body has been picking and choosing 
in advance in a manner calculated to obtain that 
result, and he has succeeded in obtaining that result. 
And that kind of thing which your Honor .simply 
says, "Well, that may show disproportion," that 
thing (2489) is not just disproportion, that means 
the jury is loaded. 

In the same way-
The Court: All right, now. I sustain the ob­

j·ection. 
Mr. Gladstein: To the question I asked¥ 
The Court : Yes. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Now, Mr. Wilkerson, did you have any :figures­

Mr. Gladstein: Would your Honor pardon me 
for just a second f 

The Court: Certainly. 
Mr. Sacher: Do you want to take a recess, to 

save time' 
The Court : Yes. I will take a recess now. 

(Short recess.) 

(2490) Mr. Crockett: If your Honor please, I 
should like to be heard on the question of evidence 
that tends to ·establish .exclusion from jury service 
because of political affiliations. I would like ex­
pressly to direct the Court's attention to that por­
tion of the J udicia1 Code which provides that the 
jury clerk and the jury commissioner shall each 
place a name in the box ''without reference to 
political affiliation'' until such time as 300 or more 
names are in the box. 

Now, the thesis of my argument is that that 
places a question of discrimination because of polit­
ical affiliation on a somewhat different ground from 
the ordinary question of discrimination because of 
geographical location or discrimination because of 

LoneDissent.org



1053 

Colloquy of Co~wt and Counsel 

economic status. In the latter instance, especially, 
economic status, we rely almost wholly upon de­
cisions of the Supreme Court. Here, however, the 
question presents a more serious problem because 
in addition to its condemnation by Supreme Court 
opinion we have an express condemnation by Con­
gress itself. It follows, I think logically, from that 
that it is probably a question to which the Court 
should be particularly invited to give its considera­
tion where you are speaking about political dis­
crimination. Under such circumstances it is highly 
probable that proportional discrimination might be 
(2491) held to satisfy, or, rather, to come within 
the condemnation of that section of the statute. 

Now, the evidence that we wanted to present to 
the Court tended to show that in specified areas in 
Manhattan and the Bronx where the voting statistics 
indicate predominantly that the vote has been in 
favor of the American Labor Party, for some strange, 
reason there is a paucity of jurors selected from 
those particular ar,eas. 

Now, I understand Mr. McGohey's objection to 
the testimony is on the ground that it was irrelevant. 
I could hardly conceive of any testimony. that would 
be any more relevant if we could show that this 
distinction between areas that were predominantly 
American Labor Party in expression of their vote 
and areas that were predominantly Republican or 
Democratic in the expression of their vote had been 
purposefully discriminated against in the selection 
of jurors. 

Now, it is not submitted at this time that the 
testimony will tend to show the deliberate character 
of the discrimination or the purposeful nature of 
the discrimination-

The Court: That is just what I am ruling. 
Mr. Crockett: And w:e shall come to that later. 

( 2492) But certainly we have a right to show that 
there has been this discrimination. Then it is up 
to us to present to the Court's satisfaction evidence 
to indicate that it was intentional and deliberate. 
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I therefore request that the Court reconsider 
its ruling and at least accept this testimony subject 
to it being connected up with the requirements show­
ing it to be deliberate and intentional. 

The Court : Mr. Sacher, did you wish to say 
something1 

Mr. Sacher: Yes. Rather briefly, your Honor, 
I would like to adopt Mr. Crockett's argument, be­
cause I think that from the legal point of view it 
is quite clear that any kind of selection based on 
party affiliation violates Section 1864 of the Judicial 
Code. 

The Court: You see, Mr. Sacher, the statute 
provides in Section 1864 of the Judicial Code : 

''The jury commissioner and the clerk or his 
deputy shall alternately place one name in the 
jury box without reference to party affiliations,'' 

and so on. Now, I do not consider that what you 
have tendered will prove that the clerk did not put 
the names in the box without reference to party 
affiliations. 

Mr. Sacher: May I say this-
The Court: And I am increasingly impressed as 

the ( 2493) proceeding goes on week after week 
with the indirect approach that you have here. I 
have listened to proof for several weeks here, and 
I am beginning to be disposed to curtail it along 
the same lines because I doubt its probative force. 

Mr. Sacher: I would like to call the following 
to your Honor's attention: in the challenge which 
we filed, if your Honor will be good enough to look 
at Table P -2 of the challenge-

The Court: Yes, I have it. 
Mr. Sacher: It is the table called "Jurors in 

Politics.'' And your Honor will find a very re­
markable coincidence between the size of the Re­
publican vote and the number of jurors per 10,000 
voters in each district. For instance, let us take 
the 17th Congressional District-

The Court: I have it before me, 1vir. Sacher-
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11r. Sacher: All right, just by way of illus­
tration-

The Court: -it is just that we are not in agree­
ment about it, that is all. 

Mr. Sacher: I know we are not. That is why 
I am addressing your Honor. There would be no 
occasion to if we were in agreement. 

The Court: Yes, but I sometimes find a dispo­
sition on the part of you and your colleagues when 
I have (2494) ruled something out to get it in in 
some other way. 

Mr. Sacher: No, because you rule before we 
have a chance to address you. 

The Court: You may address me. 
Mr. Sacher: I repeat, this is an Alice in Won­

derland procedure. We always get the sentence first 
and then the trial. Now, if we would just get back 
to ordinary procedure with trial first and sentence 
afterwards, this might be a little bit more real-

The Court : I scarcely think that that sort of 
language comports with the dignity of a lawyer ad­
dressing the Court-

Mr. Sacher: I did not mean any disrespect, 
your Honor. 

The Court: -except perhaps in jest. 
Mr. Sacher: You hear one of us, you rule, and 

then it becomes necessary to apply to your Honor 
constantly for reconsideration, and for once we 
would like to ask for consideration instead of re­
consideration, and I am trying to argue something 
now-

The Court : You will completely refrain from 
further argument along this line. 

Mr. Sacher : Then may I address myself to the 
merits of the argument on this question~ What 
I wish to (2495) say is the following: that the 
table which we presented as part of our challenge 
indicates that there is a correspondence between 
the size of the Republican vote in each Congres­
sional District and the number of jurors called from 
that district for service. And I have illustrated, 
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for instance, in the case of the 17th where the Re­
publican vote is 53.2 per cent-

The Court: If you are determined to do what 
I have just told you not to do-

Mr. Sacher: I didn't understand you. Is that 
what you asked me to refrain from~ 

The Court : I asked you to refrain from, under 
the guise of argument, putting· in the very figures 
I have ruled out in questions to the witness-

Mr. Sacher: After all, there is no jury here, 
your Honor. 

The Court: Now, if you insist, you must, of 
course, take whatever the consequences are. 

Mr. Sacher: Your Honor, may I say this: I 
have no objection to taking consequences if the occa­
sion is one which justifies the taking of consequences. 
Now, if all your Honor says is you don't want me 
to read from a certain document, I hardly think that 
that is important enough to justify the consequences. 
I don't think the liberty of my clients is involved 
in this specific thing. 

( 2496) The Court: When I have a paper be­
fore me, Mr. Sacher, a very short paper with two 
or three columns of figures, about 20 figures in each 
column, I can read. 

Mr. Sacher: Very well. 
The Court: I do not need to have you read 

them out to me. 
Mr. Sacher: But can't I illustrate an argument 

by a reference to one or two figures 1 
The Court: Not on this occasion. 
Mr. Sacher: All right. Then let me simply 

observe the following: that what we wish to do here 
is to offer by way of proof, without reference now 
to what is in the table, we wish to offer proof which 
will show a correlation between the size of the vote 
of a certain unnamed political party and the number 
of jurors drawn from various Congressional Dis­
tricts on the basis of the vote of that unnamed 
political party-! won't ev.en whisper it. 
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The Court : Well-
Mr. Sacher: Now, that is the purpose of our 

proof here, and we say the following, your Honor: 
11r. 11cGohey says that in view of the fact that a· 
handful of jurors who appeared here testified that 
they were not asked any questions about their polit­
ical affiliations, that therefore-therefore, mind 
you-there could not ( 2497) have been a delib­
erate choice by the jury commissioner of prospective 
jurors on the basis of party affiliation, whether with 
the unnamed political party or any other political 
party. 

The Court: I suggest that you-
Mr. Sacher: Now, Mr. McGohey has been too 

many years in politics-
The Court: Just a second. I suggest that you 

mark that table P-2 for identi:fication-
Mr. Sacher: I will be glad to. 
The Court: -so that its bearing on your argu­

ment may appear clearly in the record. 
11r. Sacher: All right. May I interrupt the 

argument to do that now1 
The Court: Yes, you may. 
Mr. McGohey: Do you have an extra copyt 
Mr. Sacher: I don't have an extra copy. 
The Witness: Here is one. 
The Court: I think you will find that the wit­

ness has one right here that he can hand you. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 98 for 
identification.) 

1fr. Sacher: Now I was about to say, your 
Honor, at the time-I 'vas about to address myself 
to Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 96 for identifica­
tion that (2498) Mr. McGohey and the clerk of 
this court have been in politics too long not to know 
that there are places in this city where one can 
officially ascertain the party affiliation of a lot of 
people in this city without asking them a single 
question about it. And what we are trying to estab­
lish here is that the correlation between the size 
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of the vote of the unnamed political party, which 
I think without mentioning on the record both your 
Honor and I understand to be a certain political 
party-

The Court: I do not think you need whisper 
that. I think you may be allowed to say American 
Labor Party. 

Mr. Sacher: No. I meant the Republican Party. 
You see, the Labor Party does not figure very 

much in the clerk's calculations. It is the Repub­
lican Party with which he is concerned. And there­
fore what we are trying to prove here is that on 
the basis of what he learned from public records, the 
jury commissioner and the jury clerk so selected 
names from voting lists or from telephone books 
or from address books, et cetera, in such deliberate, 
intentional and systematic manner as to yield con­
stantly and undeviatingly a correspondence between 
the number of votes selected from a Congressional 
District and the size of the vote of the Republican 
Party (2499) in that Congressional District. So 
that-I mean the number of jurors selected on the 
basis of the number of votes cast for tha.t party. 
So when the number of Republican votes was large 
there was an outpouring, a sort of exfoliation of 
jurors-I don't know yet whether they were Repub­
licans-but of jurors, and when the Republican 
Party vote was insignificant the number of jurors 
from the Congressional District in which that vote 
was insignificant, was insignificant. 

Now, are we to say, your Honor, that the wheels 
of fate and chance spin in such fashion only in the 
office of the clerk on the 6th floor of this building 
as to always to come out with a number of jurors 
that corresponds precisely to the size of the vote 
in the Congressional District from which these 
jurors come~ Or may we not rather say that provi­
dence is not always looking out over Republican 
jurors but that a lesser deity, a jury commissioner, 
or the jury clerk intervenes in these human affairs 
and sees to it that the needle points to a certain 
number in a certain district on the-
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The Court: There are too many factors for me 
to feel that there is cogency in that proof. 

Mr. Sacher: Well, why not receive it 1 We have 
( 2500) no jury. All we are asking for right now 
is this: we have no jury, and rather than err on 
the side of too little evidence, if anything, this case 
is important to warrant a little bit more rather 
than a little bit less in the matter of evidence. 

The Court: That is what I have thought up to 
this time, and we have been having a little bit more, 
and now we are going to have a little bit less. 

Mr. Sacher: Is it because the evidence is be­
coming too devastating for the Government that we 
must now be circumscribed 1 This is the telling 
stuff. \Vhy are we stopped at this point when we 
proceed definitely to show that the Republican Party 
vote is the guide to the determination of how many 
jurors come from a district, and not that impartial 
selection which the Constitution and the statute re­
quire~ That is what is at stake in this instance, 
your Honor, and I submit I don't want to take any 
more of your time if we are doing nothing to in­
fluence you; I don't want to be like the Yankee in 
King Arthur's Court-

The Court: I always have that situation where 
the lawyer I disagree with, he feels he is right, and 
maybe he is. I can't tell any more-

11r. Sacher: I would not argue with you if I 
were wrong, your Honor. 

(2501) The Court: What is that' 
Mr. Sacher: I would not argue with you if I 

were wrong, your Honor. 
The Court : Well, I would not decide the way I 

do if I were not right. 
Mr. Sacher: It is one of those insoluble contra­

dictions, I am afraid. 
The Court: We get back into that katy-did-kayt­

didn 't, and that is what I am tryjpg to avoid as much 
as I can. 

Mr. Gladstein: Now, your Honor, I want to make 
an offer of proof, if I may. 
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The Court: Yes, you may. 
Mr. Gladstein: I want to prove I offer here now 

to prove that if the witness were permitted to an­
swer appropriate questions which I am prepared to 
put to him he would testify in substance and effect 
as follows-

The Court: Now, if you are going to read the 
table-

Mr. Gladstein: I am not going to read the table, 
but I certainly can look at documents in my notes, 
Judge-

The Court: You can state any conclusion, that 
you want to prove thus and so, without getting into 
the record what I ruled out. 

Mr. Gladstein: All right. 
(2502) The Court: That is the reason I sug­

gested marking that for identification, so that then 
you can offer it, and if there is objection and I rule 
it out, you have your record. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, first I will ask the witness, 
your Honor, so that the proper foundation is laid: 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Mr. Wilkerson, I want you to look at Challenge Ex­
hibit 96 for identification and state whether you prepared 
it or supervised its preparations~ A. I did. 

Q. Are the tabulations and data shown on there correct, 
and do they fairly and accurately represent or portray the 
things which they purport to represent~ A. They do. At­
tention should be called, however, to the fact that the 
sources refer to another table which I think has not been 
entered, and if this be true it should be indicated on this 
exhibit. 

Mr. Gladstein: That is quite correct. There is 
a reference at the bottom of that to Table P-1, and I 
now .hand a copy of that to the clerk and ask to have 
it marked for identification. 

(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 97 for 
identification.) 
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(2503) Q. Mr. Wilkerson, I show you now a document 
marked Challenge Exhibit 97 for identification at the top 
of which Table P-1 is mimeographed, and ask you if that is 
the table referred to by the preceding exhibit' A. This is 
the table. 

Q. And is No. 97 likewise a tabulation prepared by you 
or under your supervision~ A. It is. 

Q. Have you checked it for accuracy~ A. I have. 
Q. Is it correct~ A. It is. 
Q. Is it a fair and truthful representation of the facts 

and data which it purports to state? A. It is. 

Mr. Gladstein: Now I offer both of those ex-
hibits in evidence. 

Mr. McGohey: Objection. 
The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. Gladstein: Now I desire the record to show 

that if the witness were permitted to answer ques­
tions which I am prepared to put to him at this time 
he would testify in substance and effect-

Mr. McGohey: If your Honor please, I am going 
to object to this because it is apparent now that 
counsel is referring to the tables which have been 
offered and objected to and the objection sustained. 

The Court: Well, perhaps he may discover some, 
way of putting it without having the detailed facts 
in (2504) the offer. I should think that the two 
papers which have been marked for identification 
!Should sufficiently disclose your offer, Mr. Gladstein. 

Mr. Gladstein: Well, I was about to ·say that he 
would testify in substance and effect to the facts, 
figures and data contained in Exhibits 96 and 97 for 
identification, and substantiate their validity and 
their accuracy. 

Mr. McGohey: I assumed that is what he did 
when he identified the record. I have no objection 
to that. 

The Court: Yes. 
Mr. Gladstein: Will you mark this for identifica­

tion, please, Mr. Clerk. 
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(Marked Defendants' Challenge Exhibit 98 for 
identification.) 

The Court : Is this P -3 ~ 
Mr. Gladstein: That is right. 

By Mr. Gladstein: 

Q. Mr. Wilkerson, I show you a document marked No. 
98 for identification. Will you state what it is~ A. This is 
a table entitled "Jurors and Voters" which indicates the 
total vote in 1948 Congressional Elections in each-or, 
rather, in a group of what are termed major excluded areas 
so far as jury service is (2505) concerned, and in an­
other group of areas ·called all other areas, and also the 
number of jurors on each-or, rather, on six panels which 
came from these excluded areas and from the all other 
areas here indicated. 

Q. Was it prepared by you~ A. It was. 
Q. What was the basis for the figures and data appear .. 

ing on 98 for identification~ A. The total vote, 1948, is 
based upon the reports of the New York City Board of 
Elections for Congressional Elections of 1948. The num­
ber of jurors by-

The Court: Elections of 1948~ 
The Witness: That is right. 

A. (Continuing) The number of jurors who reside in the 
two groups of Congressional Districts is determined by the 
residences of jurors and their official lists and by other offi­
cial information about Congressional boundary line.s. 

Q. What particular jury lists were subjected to the 
anarysis referred to in No. 98 ~ A. Again the source or 
reference to the same source on Table P-1. If you haven't 
it before you I ean give you that. 

Mr. Sacher: A little louder, Mr. Wilkerson. 
( 2506) The Court: Those are the same six 

panels you had identified a little while ago~ 
The Witn~ss: I don't think they had been named. 

I should like to name them now, if I may. 
The Court: Just pause a second. 
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